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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Saudi Hollandi Bank
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Saudi Hollandi Bank
(the “Bank™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010, the consolidated income
statement, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes from 1 to 41. We have not audited note (42), nor the information
related to “Basel [I Pillar 3 Disclosures” cross referenced therein, which is not required to be
within the scope of our audit.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions issued by
the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (“SAMA™), International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), the provisions of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control Law in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s Articles of Association. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether these consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Bank’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole:

e present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at December 31, 2010, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions issued by
SAMA and with IFRS; and

¢ comply with the requirements of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control
Law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s Articles of Association in so far as
they affect the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche KPMG
Bakr Abulkhair & Co. Al Fozan & Al Sadhan
P.O. Box 213 P O Box 92876
Riyadh 11411 Riyadh 11663
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

[
Bakr A. Abulkhair Tareq A. Al Sadhan
Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 101 Registration No. 352

13 Rabi’ 1 1432H

16 February 2011 ( -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

Notes 2010 2009
ASSETS
Cash and balances with SAMA 4 4,999.698 9,269,563
Due {rom banks and other financial inslitutions 5 308,881 138,935
Investments, net 6 11,751,665 12,131,554
Loans and advances, net 7 35,038,979 36,022,970
[nvestment in associale 8 20,000 20,000
Property and equipment, net 9.1 495,216 496,608
Other assels 10 1,267,974 1,030,088
Total assets 53,882,413 59,109,718
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Due 1o banks and other financial institutions 12 2,857,012 5,756,556
Customers’ deposits 13 41,603,619 44,827,289
Other liabilities 14 1,534,826 1,393,054
Subordinated debt 15 1,500,000 1,500,000
Total liabilities 47,495,457 53,476,896
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 16 3,307,500 3,307,500
Statulory reserve 17 2,134,500 1,936,500
General reserve 130,000 130,000
Other reserves 18 (29,916) 8,995
Retained earnings 820,691 228,260
Staff share based plan reserve 37 24,181 21,567
Total shareholders’ equity 6,386,956 5,632,822
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 53,882,413 59,109,718

Q’/_J
(“'n Or. Bernd van Linder Farid Zaouk
Ananth Venkat ! Managing Director GM-Legal & Corporate Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Szidi Hell2ndi Bank )

The dgpdiplofidnd Bk | to 42 form an integral par of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

Special commission income

Special commission ¢xpense

Net special commission income

Fee and commission income, net

Exchange income, net

Income from financial instruments designated as FVIS, net
Trading income, net

Gains on nen-trading investments, net

Total operating income

Salaries and einployee related expenses
Rent and premises related expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

Other general and administrative expenses
Impairment charge for credit losses, net

Impairment charge for investmenis
Total operating expenses
Net operating income for the year

Gain on sale of land
Net income for the year

Earnings per share (Expressed in SAR per share¢)
Basic and diluted EPS

i ull § s uanl pall
Notes 810 2009
20 1,624,997 2,280,199
20 337,666 710,153
1,287,331 1,570,046
21 454,827 366,002
89,345 79,669
22 5,389 2,589
23 86,197 125,235
30,994 3,021
1,954,083 2,146,562
426,669 479271
73,758 74,588
92,223 77,414
179,559 181,114
7¢{h) 388,726 1,148,196
6(g) 9,200 160,048
1,170,132 2,060,631
783,951 85,931
9.2 6,480 -
790,431 85,931
25 2.39 0.26

; ), ; e

Ananth Venkat
Chief Financ! alOfficer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

2010 2009
Net income for the year 790,431 85,931
Other comprehensive income
Available for sale investments
- Net unrealised (loss) / gain arising during the year (14,305) 64,398
- Net reclassification adjustment for realised gain / (loss) 2,394 (3.021)
(11,911) 61,377
Cash flow hedges
- Effective portion of changes in fair value recognised (29,391) (10,831)
- Net change in faiy value transferred to consolidated income
staternent 2,391 3,860
(27,0000 6,971)

Total comprehensive income for the year 751,520 140,337

.

r. Bernd van Linder
n An?nth F‘I..r'erﬂiajt fy' Managing Director Fa ."Fn:1 f.,em;.'{
Chief Financial Otfic €: JiWe'landi Zank CM-Leqal & © sy Bacpo
The accdifiin kA Ao 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statementa, T Secrotary
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Amounts in SAR’000

Notes
2010

Balance at beginning of the
year
Totat comprehensive income

Contribulion towards staff
share based plan 37

Transfer 10 statutory reserve 17

Batance at the end of the year

2008

Balance al beginning of the year
Tota) comprehensive income
Contribution towards swaff
share based plan 37

Bonus shares 1ssued
Transfer to statulory reserve 17

Dividends paid

Balance at the ¢od of the year

@

The aecompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents.

Other reserves

Staff share
Available based

Share General Jforsale  Cash flow Proposed plan Total

Capital Reserve investments  hedges reserve eqitity
3,307,500 130,000 (7,185) 16,180 21,567 5,632,822
- (1L3H)  (27,000) - 751,520
. - y - 2,614 2,614
3,307,500 130,000 (19,096) (10,820) 24,181 6,386,956
2,646,000 130.000 (68,562) 23,151 10,783 5,715,151
- S1377 (6971 140,337
. - 10,784 10,784

661,500 - - -

. (233,450)
1,207,500 130,000 (7,185) 16,180 21,567 5,632,822

Ananth Venkat
Chief Financial Cfficer
Saudi Hollandi Bank

@

Or. Bernd van Linder
ing Director

P Hzlar 2l 320k




For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:

Accretion of discounts on non-trading investments, net
(ains on non-trading investmenls, net

Depreciation / amortisation

Impairment charge for credit losses, net

Impairment charge for Investments

Stafl share based plan expenses

Gain on sale of land

Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets:
Statutory deposit with SAMA

- B
LONbOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH hLOWb

Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing after

ninety days from the date of acquisition

Investments held as FVIS (in¢luding trading investments)

Loans and advances, net

Other assets
Net increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Due to banks and other financial institutions
Customers’ deposits
Other liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales and maturities of non-trading investments

Purchase of non-trading invesiments
Acquisition of property and equipment
Invesiment in associate

Proceeds from sale of land

Net cash from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debt
Repayment of subordinated debt

Dividends paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease) /increase in cash and cash equivale
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Special commission received during the vear

Special commission paid during the year

Supplemental non -cash information

The accompanying notes 1 to

Ananth Venkat
Chief Financial Officer
Saudi Hollandi Bank

nts
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g Director

#'m.:_l]l

._,.lk

Notes

(b}
6(g)

27

I'__

2010 2009
790,431 85,931
(192,779) (264,050)
(30,994) (3,021)
92,223 77,414
388,726 1,148,196
9,200 100,048
2,614 10,784
(6,480) -
1,052,941 1,155,302
(132,214) (328,714)
7,152 (113,518)
(3,685) 251,423
595,265 845,935
(237.886) 399,229
(2,899,544) (3,529,594)
(3,223,670) 1,814,962
141,775 (554,504)
(4,699,866) (59,479)
9,642,386 9,499,959
(9,083,150) (3,293,164)
(96,756) (108,411)

- (20,000)

12,405 -
474,885 6,078,384

- 725,000

- (700,000)

- (233,450)

- (208,450)
(4,224,981) 5,810,455
7,198,181 1,387,726
2,973,200 7,198,181
1,706,210 2,417,380
452,740 918,059
38,911 54,406

(Lm

l stllt..nn. m,-:.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

1

GENERAL

Saudi Hollandi Bank (the "Bank"), is a Saudi Joint Stock Company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and was formed pursuant to
Royal Decree No. M/85 dated 29 Dhul Hijjah 1396H (corresponding to December 20, 1976). The Bank eommenced business on 16 Shaaban
1397H (eorresponding to August 1, 1977) when it took over the operations of Algemene Bank Nederland N.V. in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. The Bank operates under commercial registration No. 1010064925 dated 6 Jumada [[ 1407H (corresponding to February 4, 1987)
through its 44 branches (2009: 42 branches) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The postal address of the Bank’s head office is as follows:

Saudi Hollandi Bank

P O Box 1467

Riyadh 11431

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The objective of the Bank is to provide a full range of banking and investment services. The Bank also provides to its customers [slamic (non
eommission bascd) banking produets whieh are approved and supcrvised by an independent Shariah Board established by the Bank.

The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiarics (collectively referred to as “the
Group"). The details of these subsidiarics are sct out helow:

Saudi Hollandi Capital (SHC)

SHC was formed in accordance with the Capilal Market Authority's {CMA) Resolution number [-39-2007 under commercial registration
number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijja 1428 (corrcsponding to January 09, 2008) to take over and manage the Bank's Investment Services
and Asset Management activities related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and taking custody of seeurities regulated by CMA. SHC
is effectively wholly owned by the Bank through direct and beneficiat ownership and commenced its operations cffeetive | Rabi’ll 1429H
(corresponding to April 7, 2008).

Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company (SHREC)

SHREC an cffectivcly wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct and benefieial ownership, was established under commercial
registration number 1010250772 dated 21 Jumada II 1429H {corresponding to June 25, 2008) with the approval of the Saudi Arabian
Monetary Agency (SAMA).

BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Aceounting Standards for Financial Institutions promulgated by
SAMA and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards ([FRS) issued by Intemational Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The Group
prepares its consolidated financial statements te comply with the Banking Control Law, the provisions of Regulations for Companies in the
Kingdem of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s Articles of Association.

b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical eost convention except for the measurement at fair value of derivatives
and financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through incorne statement (FVIS) and available for sale investments. In addition, financial
assets and liabilities that are hedged in a fair value hedging relationship and otherwise carried at cost are carried at fair value to the extent of
the risk being hedged.

¢) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyals (SAR), which is the Group’s functional currcney. Except as
indicated, financial information presented in SAR has been rounded off to the nearest thousands.

d) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in cenformity with IFRS requires the use of certain eritical accounting judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affcet the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Such judgements, estmates, and assumptions are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, ineluding expeciations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
cireumstances and oblaining professiopal adviee. Significant arcas where management has used eslimates, assumptions or exercised
Judgements are as follows:
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For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

(i) Impairment for credit losses on loans and advances

Management reviews its loan portfolios to assess specific and collective impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded. Management applies judgement when assessing whether there is any observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated futurc cash flows. This evidence may include observable data jndicating there has been an
adverse ehange in the payment status of borrowers in a group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for loans with
similar credit risk characteristics where objective evidence of impairment exists. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both
the amount and the timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

(ii) Fair value of unquoted financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active inarkets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques {for example, models) are validated and periodically reviewed by qualificd personne! independent of the area that created them.
Models are calibrated to ensurc that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models use only
observable market data, however, areas such as credit risk {both own and counter party), volatilities and correlations require management to
apply judgement. This include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for longer dated finaneial instruments and
diseount, prepayment and default rate assumptions for asset backed securities. Changes in assumptions about these factors eould affect
renorted fair value of financial instruments.

(iii) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

Management exercises judgement to consider impairment on the available-for-sale equity investments. This includes determination of a
significant or protonged decline in the fair value below its cost. In making this judgement, the Management evaluates, among other faetors,
the normal volatility in share price. In addition, Management considers impairment to be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration
in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

(iv) Classification of held-to-maturity investments

The Group follows the guidance of [AS 39 in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity as held-to-maturity. In making this judgement, Management evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.

¢) Going concern

Managemcnt has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going eonecrn and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to
continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, Management is not aware of any material uncettainties that may cast signiftcant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going eoncem. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on
the going eoncern basis.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The aecounting polieies adopted are eonsistent with those of the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2009, except for the adoption of amendments to the existing standards as mentioned below. The Group has adopted the following
amendments and interpretations issued with retrospective effeet which had no impact on the financial position and financial performance.

Amendment to [AS 27 (Revised}- Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements which deals primarily with the accounting for changes in
ownership of interests in subsidiaries after control is obtained, the accounting for loss of control of subsidiaries, and the allocation of profit or
loss to controlling and non-controlling interest in a subsidiary;

Amendment to JAS 39 “Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement” — which clarifies how the principles that determine whether a
hedged risk or portion of cash flows is ¢ligible for designation should be applied in partieular situations; and

Amendments to IFRSs made as part of International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB or Board) improvements to [nternational Financial
Reporting Standards 2009 which are effective for the year 2010.

a} Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Saudi Hollandi Bank and its subsidiaries and are drawn up to
31 December of each year. The finaneial staieinents of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Bank and
changes have been made to the accounting policies of the subsidiaries where necessary to align them with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govemn financial and operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from its
activitics, generally accompanying a sharcholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Bank and cecasc to be consolidated from the date on which the control is transferred from the Bank. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies and valuation methods for like transactions and other
evenls in similar circumstances.

Intra-group balances and any income and expenses arising from intra-group iransactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrcalised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

b) Investments in associates

Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently equity aceounted, based on its annual audited financial statcments.
An assoeiate is an entity in which the Bank holds 20% to 50% of the voting power, over which it has significant influence but which js
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

¢) Trade date accounting

All 'regular-way' purchases and sales of financial assets arc recognisced and derecognised on trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to
purchase a transaction. ‘Rcgular way’ purchases or sales are purchases or sales that require delivery within the time frame generally
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

d) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, commission rate futures, forward rate agreements, currency and
commission rate swaps, and options (both written and purchased) are measured at fair value. All derivalives are carried at their fair value as
assels where the fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is negative. Fair values are obtained by reference to quoted market
prices, discounted cash flow models and pricing models as appropriatc. The treatment of changes in fair value depends on derivative's
clagsification into the following categories:

i) Derivatives held for trading

Any changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading arc taken dircctly 1o the consolidated income statement and disclosed in trading
income. Derivatives held for trading also include those derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting.

it} Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
charaeteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at
fair value through income statcment FVIS, Embedded derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value in the trading portfolio with
changes in fair valuc recognised in the eonsolidated income statcment.

iii) Hedge accounting

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a} fair value hedges that hedge the exposure to changes in the
fair value of a recognised asset or liability, (or asscts or liabilitics in case of portfolio hedging), or an unrecognised firm commitment or an
identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment, that is attributable to a particular risk and eould affect the reported net gain
or loss; and (b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated
with a recognised asset or liability or to a highly probable forecasted transaction that will affect the reported net gain or loss.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedge should be cxpected to be highly effective, i.e. the changes in fair value or cash flows of
the hedging instrument should effectively offset corresponding changes in the hedged item, and should be rcliably measurable. At inception
of the hedge, the risk management objective and strategy is documented including the identification of the hedging instrument, the related
hedged item, the narure of risk being hedged, and how the Management will assess the effectiveness of the bedging relationship.
Subsequently hedge is assessed for cffectivencss on an ongoing basis.

Fair Value Hedges

When a derivative is designated as a hedge of the change in a fair value hedge relationship, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging
instruments Lo fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement together with change in the fair value of the hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk which is included under gains / losses on non trading vestments in the consolidated income statement,



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

For hedged items measured at amortised cost, wherc the fair value hedge of a commission bearing financial instrument eeases to meet the
criteria for hedge aecounting or is sold, exereised or terminated, the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination
and the face value is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge using the effective yield basis. If the hedged item is
dereeognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the conselidated income statement.

Cash Flow Hedges

When a denvative is designated as hedge in a cash flow hedge relationship, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is
determined to be effective is recognised directly in other comprehensive ineome whercas the ineffective portion, if any, ts recognised in the
consolidated income statement. For cash flow hedges affeeting future transactions, the fair value gains or losses recognised in other reserves,
are transferred to the consolidated income statement in the same period in which the hedged transaction affects the consolidated income
statement.

Where the hedged forecasted transaction results in the recognition of a nonfinancial asset or liability, then the assoeiated gains or losses that
had previously been recognised directly in other comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement of the acquisition cost or
other carrying amount at the time sueh asset or liability is recognised. When the hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, ne
longer qualifies for hedge accounting, forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur or the Group revokes the designation, any
cumulative gain or loss on the cash flow hedging instrument that was recognised in other comprehensive income js retained until the
forecasted transaction occurs. Where the hedged forecasted transaction is no fonger expected to occur, the net eumulative gain or Joss
recognised in the consolidated statement of eomprehensive income is transferred to the consolidated ineome statement for the year.

¢) Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at the spot exchange rates prevailing at transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end, denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at the exchange rates
prevailing at the reporting date. The foreign curreney gain or loss on monetary itemns is the differcnee between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the year adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised eost in foreign eurrency
translated at the cxchange rate at the end of the year. All differences arising on non-trading aetivities are taken 1¢ other non operating income
in the consolidated income statement, with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide an effective hedge
against a net investment in foreign entity.

Foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in forcign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, exeept for differences arising on the retranslation of available for sale equity instruments. Translation gains or
losses on non-monctary items carried at fair value are ineluded as part of the fair value adjustment either in the eonsolidated income statement
or in other comprehensive income depending on the underlving financial asset.

f) Offsetting financial instruments

Finaneial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to sct off the recognised amounts and when the Group intends to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneousty.

g) Revenue/expense recognition
i) Special commission income and expenses

Special commission income and expense for all commission-bearing financial instruments, except for those elassified as held for trading or
designated as at fair value through ineome statement (FVIS), are recognised in the consolidated income statement on the effective yield basis.
The effective yield is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected tife of the finaneial
asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the camrying amount of the finaneial asset or liability. When ealculating the
effective eommission rate, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all eontractual terms of the finangial instrument but not future
eredit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The
adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective commission rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as
special commission ineome or expense.

The calculation of the effective yield takes into account all centraetual terms of the financial instruments (prepayment, options ete.) and
includes all fees and points paid or received, transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that are an integral part. of the effective commission
rate. Transaction cosis are ineremental costs that are direetly attributable to the aequisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or a liability.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

i) Exchange income / loss
Exchangc income/loss is recognised when earned/incurred.

i) Fees and commission income

Fees and commission income that are not integral part of the effective yield calculation on a financial asset or liability is recognised when the
related service is provided as follows:

+ Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are rccognised based on the applicable scrvice contracts, usually on a
time proportionate basis,

- Fee received on asset management, wealth management, financial planning, custody services and other similar services that are
provided over an cxtended period of time, are recognised over the period when the service is being provided.

» When a loan eommitment is not cxpected to result in the draw-down of a loan, loan eommitment fees are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the commitment period.

+ Other fees and commission cxpense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are cxpensed as the service, arc received.
iv) Dividend income

Dividend ineome is recognised when the right 1o receive dividend is established.

v) Net trading income

Results arising from trading activities ineludc all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related special commission income or
expense, dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities hcld for wading and foreign exchange differences. This includes any
ineffectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.

vi} Income / (Loss) from FVIS financial instruments

Net income from FVIS financial instruments relates to finaneial assets and liabilities designated as FVIS and include all realised and
unrealiscd fair value changes, commission, and foreign exchange differences.

h) Day one profit

Where the transaction pricc in a non-aclive market is different to the fair value from other observable eurrent market transactions in the same
mstrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the Group immediatcly recognises
the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a *Day one’ profit} in the consolidated income statement in *Net trading income’.
In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the differenee between the transaction price and model value is only recognised in
the consolidated income statement when the inputs become obscrvable, or when the instrument is derocognised.

i) Sale and repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultancous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) continue to be reeognised in the consolidated
statement of financial positton and are measured in accordance with related aceounting policies for finaneial instruments held as FVIS,
available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and other investments held at amortised eost. The counterparty liability for amounts reecived under these
agreements is included in “Due to banks and other financial institutions™. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as
special commission expense and is acerued over the life of the repo agreement on an effective commission rate basis. Assets purchased with a
corresponding commitment to resell al a specified future date (reverse rcpos) are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financtal
position, as the Group does not obtain control over the assets. Amounts paid under these agreements are included in “Cash and balances with
SAMA", “Due from banks and other financial wstitutions”. The differenee between the purchase and resale prices is treated as special
commission income and accrued over the life of the reverse repo agreement on an cffective yield basis.

j) Tnvestments

The investment securities are initially reeognised on the trade date where the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
investment securities. All investment securities are initially rccognised at fair value, including incremental direct transaction cost exeept for
investments held as FVIS. Premiums are amortised and discounts accreted using the effective yield basis and are taken 10 special commission
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

For securities traded in organised financial markets, fair valuc is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of busincss
on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Fair value of managed assets and invesiments in mutual funds are determined
by reference to declared net assct values.

For securities where therc is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market
value of another instrument which js substantially the same, or is based on the expected cash flows or the underlying net asset base of the
security. Where the fair values cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of vatuation techniques that include
the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.

Reclassification

Invesiments at FVIS are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except that non-derivative FVIS instrument, other than those
designated as FVIS upon initial recognition, may be reclassified out of the FVIS fair value through profit or loss (i.e. trading) category if they
are no longer held for the purpose of being sold or repurchased in the near term, and the following conditions are met:

- [fthe investments would have met the definition of "held at amortised cost” and had not been required to be classified as held for
trading at initial recognition, then it is reclassified if the Group has the intention and ability to hold the investments for the
foreseeable future or until maturity.

- If the investments would not have met the definition of held at amortised cost, and then it is reclassified out of the trading category
only in ‘rare circumsiances’.

A security held as available for sale may be reclassified to “Oiher invesimenis beld at amortised cost” if it otherwise would have mel the
definition of “Other investrents held at amortised cost™ and if the Group has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the
foreseeable future ot until maturity.

The subsequent period-end reporting values for each class of investment are determined on the basis set out in the following paragraphs:

i) Held as FVIS

Investments in this category are classified as either investment held for rading or those designated as FVIS on initial recognition. [nvestments
held for trading are acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in short term and are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in trading income/loss.

An investment can be designated as FVIS by the management if it satisfies the criteria laid down in IAS 39 except for the equity instruments
that do not have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair values cannot be reliably measured.

Investments at FVIS are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year in which it arises. Special commission income and dividend income on finaneial assets held as
FVIS are reflected as cither trading income or income from FVIS financial instruments in the consolidated income statement.

ii) Available- for- sale
Available-for-sale investments are those eguity and debt securities that are intended 1o be held for an unspecified period of time, which may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in special commission rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

[nvestments which are classificd as “available for sale” are subsequently measured at fair valuc. Unrealised gain or loss arising from a change
in its fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income. On de-recognition, any cumulative gain or loss previously recogniscd in other
comprehensive income is included in the consolidated income statcment. Special commission income is recognised in the eonsolidated
income statement on effective yield basis. Dividend income is recognised in consolidated income statement when the Group becomes entitled
i the dividend. Foreign exchange gains or loss on available for sale debt security investments are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

11



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

iii) Held to maturity

Investments having fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity
are elassified as held to maturity, Held to maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment in
value. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount ot premium on acquisition using an effective yield basis. Any gain or
loss on such investments is recognised in the eonsolidated income statement when the investment is derecognised or impaired.

Investments classified as held to maturity cannot ordinanly be sold or reclassificd without impacting the Group’s ability to use this
classification and cannol be designated as a hedged item with respect to commission rate or prepayment risk, reflecting the longer-term nature
of these investments.

However, salcs and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not impact Group's ability to use this classification;
p p 3

* Sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that the changes in market rate of interest would not havc a significant effect
on the fair value;

+ Salcs or reclassifications after the Group has colleeted substantially all the assets’ original principal;

+ Sales or reclassifications attributable to non reeurring isolated events bevond the Group’s eontrol that could not have been
rcasonably anticipated.

iv} Other investments held af amortised cost

Investment securities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “Other investments held at
amortised cost”. Such investments whose fair valucs have not been hedged are stated al amortised cost using effective yicld basis, less
provision for impairment. Any gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

k) Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets originated or acquired by the Group with fixed or determinable payments. Loans and
advanccs are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are derccognised when either the borrower repays the obligations, or the
loans are sold or written off, or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred.

All loans and advances are initially measured at fair value, including acquisition charges associated with the loans and advances.

The subsequent period-end reporting values for various classes of loans and advances are determined on the basts as set out tn the following
paragraphs.
(i) Held at amnortised cost

Loans and advances originated or acquired by the Group that are not quoted in an active market and for which fair value has not been hedged,
are stated at amortised cost.

For loans and advances which are hedged, the related portion of the hedged fair value is adjusted against the carrying amount.

(i) Held as FVIS

Loans and advances in this category arc classified as either held for trading or thosc designated as FVIS. Loans and advances classified as
held for trading are acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in short term. Loans and advances may be designated as
FVIS by the management if i1 either removes on accounting mismatches or eontains embedded dervatives. After initial recognition, such
loans and advances are measured at fair value and any change in the fair value is recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year
in which it arises.

Transaction costs, if any, are not added to the fair valuc measurement at initial recognition of FVIS loans and advances.
(tii) Available for sale

Loans and advances classified as available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value. Any changes in fair value, other than those
relating to hedged risks, are recogniscd directly in “other reserves” under ** equity” until thesc are derecognised or impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included n the consolidated income statement for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

1) Impairment of financial asscts

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets may be impaired at the reporting date. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and any
impairment loss, based on the net present value of future anticipated cash flows, is recognised for changes in its earrying amounts.

When a financial asset is uneollectible, it is written off against the related allowances for impairment either direetly or by a eharge to the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets are written off only in circumstances where effectively all possible means of recovery have
been exhausted, and the amount of the loss has been determined.

Once a financial asset has been written down to its estimated recoverable amount, special commission income is thercafter recognised based
on the rate of special commission that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverabie amount.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised (sueh as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously reeognised impairment loss is reversed
by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the consolidated income staternent in impairment charge for
credit losses,

Loans whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are treated as new toans. Restructuring pelicies and
practices are based on indicators or criteria, which indicate that payment will most likely continuc. The loans continue to be subject to an
individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective yield rate.

() Impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost

A financial assct or group of financial assets (s classified as impaircd when there is an objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset or group of financial asscts and that a loss event(s) has an impact
on the cstimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

A specific allowance for eredit losses due to impairment of a loan or any other financial asset held at amorlised cost is established if there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the specific altowances is the difference between
the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount is the present value of expected cash flows,
including amounts estimated to be recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective yield rate.

(ii) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assefs

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, Management assesses individually whether thete is objective evidence of
impairment based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previcusly recognised in the eonsolidated income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increasc can be objectively related to credit event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated
ineome statcment.

For equity investments held as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below its cost represents objcctive evidence
of impairment. The impairment loss eannot be reversed through the consolidated income statement as long as the asset continues to be
recognised i.c. any increase in fair value after impairment has been recorded can only be rccognised in shareholders’ equity. On
derecognition, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the sharcholders’ equity is included in the consolidated income statement
for the ycar.

m) Other real estate

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, acquires certain real estate against settlement of duc loans and advanccs. Such real estate are
considered as assets held for sale and are initially staied at the lower of carrying amount and the current fair value of the related propertics,
less any costs to sell (if material). No depreciation is charged on such real estate. Rental income from other real estate is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, any subseguent write down to fair value, less costs to sell, are charged to the conselidated income statement,
Any subsequent gain in the fair value less costs to sell of these assets to the extent this does not exceed the cumutative write down is
recognised as income together with any gain/ loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

n} Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and presented net of accumulated depreciation and amortisation. Freehold Jand is not depreciated.
The cost of other property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as folfows:

Buildings 33 years
Leasehold improvements Ower lease perod or 10 years, whichever is shorter
Furniture, equipment and vehicles 4 to 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with earrying amount. These are ineluded in the consolidated income
statcment.

All assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or ehanges in cireumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Any carrying amount is written down immediately to its reeoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amnount is greater than its
estimated reeoverable amount.

o) Liabilities
Atl money market deposits, eustomer deposils and subordinated debts in issue are initially recognised at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequently all cotnmission-bearing financial liabilities other than those held at FVIS or where fair values have becn hedged are measured at

amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium. Premiums are amortised and diseounts accreted
on an effeetive yield basis to maturity and taken to speeial commission expense.

Finaneial liabilities are designated as FVIS on initial reeognition if doing so significantly reduces measurement inconsisiencies whieh would
otherwise arise. After initial reeognition these liabilities are measured at fair value and the rcsulting gain or loss is included in the
consolidated ineome slatement.

Financial liabilities in an effective fair value hedge relationship are adjusted for fair value ehanges to the extent of the risk being hedged. The
resultant gain or loss is rceognised in the consolidated income statement. For financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, any gain ot loss is
rceognised in the consolidated income statement when derecogniscd.

p) Guarantees

In ordinary course of business, the Group issues finaneial and performanee guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances. Financial guarantces
are initially recognised in the consolidated finaneial statements at fair vatue in other liabilities, being the value of the premium received.
Subsequent to the initial reeognition, the Group's liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the unamortiscd premium and the
best estimale of expenditure required to settle any financial obligations arising as a rcsult of guaraniees. Any increase in the liability relating

to the financial guarantee is taken to the consolidated income statcment in “impairment charge for credit losses”. The premium received is
reeognised in the consolidated income statement “fecs and commission income, net" on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

q) Pravisions

Provisions are recognised when a reliable estimate can be made by the Management for a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.

r) Accounting for leases

Leases entered into by the Group as a lessee are all operating lcases. Payments made under operating leases are eharged to the consolidated
income statewnent on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is
recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

s) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fows, “Cash and cash equivalents” are defined as those amounts included in cash,
balances with SAMA excluding statutory deposits, and duc from banks and other financial institutions maturing within three months from the
datc of acquisition.

t) Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset (or a part of a financial assct, or a part ot a group of similar financial assets) is dereeogniscd. when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the financial asset expire.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

In instances where the Group is assessed to have transferred a financial asset, the asset is derecognised if the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Where the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership, the financial asset is derccognised only if the Group has not retained control of the financial asset. The Group
recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations ereated or retained in the process.

A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) can only be derecognised when it is extinguished, that is when the obligation specified in
the contract is either discharged, cancelled or cxpires.

u} Share based payment transactions

The Group's share plan is classificd as an cquity setiled plan. The fair value of shares which the Group expects, will eventually vest, is
determined at the grant date and is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period with corresponding increasc in staff share based
plan reserve. Details regarding the plan and determination of the fair value are set out in Note 37.

At each reporting date, Management reviscs its estimates of the number of equity insiruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of
the original cstimatcs, if any, is recognised in the consolidated income statement over the remaining vesting period. with a corresponding
adjustment to the staff share plan reserve.

v) End of service benefits

The liability for employees’ end of service bencfits is determined based on an actuarial valuation conducted by an independent actuary. The
actuarial vatuation proeess takes mto account the provisions of the Saudi Arabian Labour and Workmen law.

w) Zakat and income tax

Under Saudi Arabian Zakat and Income tax laws, Zakat and income taxes arc the liabilitics of Saudi and foreign shareholders, respectively.
Zakat is computed on the Saudi sharecholders’ share of equity or net income using the basis defined under the Zakat regulations. Ineome taxes
are computed on the foreign sharehelders share of net income for the year.

Zakat and income taxes are nol charged te the Group’s consolidated income statement and arc deducted from current and future dividends
payable to the shareholders.

x) Investment management services

The Group offers investment services to its customers, through its subsidiary, which include management of certain investment funds in
consultation with professional investment advisors. The Group's share of these funds is included in the FVIS or available-for-sale
investments and fees eamed are disclosed under related party transaetions.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary eapacity are not trcated as assets of the Group and accerdingly arc not included in the consolidated
financial statements.

y) Non-interest based banking products

In addition to the conventional banking, the Group offers its customers certain non-interest based hanking products, which are approved by
its independent Shartah Board, as follows:

Definitions of non-commission based products

(1) Murababa is an agreement whereby the Group sclls to a customer a commodity or an asset, which the Group has purehased and acquired
based on a promise received from the customer to buy. The selling price comprises the cost plus an agreed profit margin.

(ii) Ijarah is an agreement whereby the Groups, acting as a lessor, purchases or constructs an asset for lease according to the
customer request (lessee), based on his promise to lease the asset for an agreed rent and specific period that could end by
transferring the ownetship of the leased asset to the lessee.

(ii) Musharaka 1s an agreement between the Group and a customer to contribute to a certain investment enterprise or the
ownership of a certain property ending up with the acquisition by the customer of the full ownership. The profit or loss is shared
as per the terms of the agreement.

{(iv) Tawaraq is a form of Murabaha transactions where the Group purchases a commodity and sells it to the customer. The
customer sells the underlying commodity at spot and uses the proceeds for his financing requirements.

All non-commission based banking products are accounted for as held at amortised cest under [FRS and are in conformity with the
accounting policies described in these consolidated financial slatements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCEIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 3, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR000

CASH AND BALANCES WITH SAMA

2010 2009
Cash in hand 297,711 235,038
Statutory deposil 2,228,225 2,096,011
Current accounts 23,796 t1,610
Reverse repo with SAMA 2,449,966 6,926,904
Total 4,999,698 9,269,563

In accordance with the Banking Control Law and Regulations issued by SAMA, the Group is required to maintain a statutory deposit witlh SAMA at stipulated
percentages of its demand, savings, time and other deposits, caleulated at the end of cach month. The statutory deposits with SAMA are not available 1o finance
the Group’s day-to-day operations and therefore are not part of eash and eash equivalenis,

DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2040 2000
Cunent accounts 106,403 112,175
Money market placements 202,478 26,760
308,881 138,935
INVESTMENTS, NET
a) Investment securities are ¢lassified as follows:
Domestic dnsernational Toral
i) Held as FVIS 2010 2009 2040 2009 2010 2009
Floating rate securities 18,133 18210 37,711 20376 55,844 38.586
Index linked securities - - 59,734 73,307 59,734 73,307
Total held as FVIS 18,133 18.210 97,445 93,683 115,578 111,893

Investments in index linked securities arc made to economically hedge the returns on related deposils whose returns are Jinked 1o the same index. Both
investmeut securities and related deposits arc designated as FVIS as such designation signifieantly reduces measurement inconsisteneies. Floating rate
securities are classified as held for trading.

Domestic International Total

2010 2009 2018 2009 2010 009
i) Available- for- sale
Fixed raie securitics 129,800 167,952 - - 129,800 167,952
Floating rate securities 772,191 952,665 85,718 201.394 857,909 1,154,059
Mutual funds 26,863 33,395 - - 26,863 33,395
Equities 4,236 4,236 - - 4,236 4,236
Total available-for-sale 933,090 1,158,248 85,718 201,394 1,018,808 1,359,642

Equities reporled under available for sale investments comprise unguoted shares for SAR 4 million (2009: SAR 4 million) that are camied at cost. In the
opinion of Management its fair value approximates 1he carrying value.

Domestic International Total

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
fii) Other investments held at amoriized cost
Fixed rate sccunlies 4,314,962 3,352,988 - - 4,314,962 3.352,988
Floating rate sceunlies 4,028,844 5,505,251 2,056,617 1,229,146 6,085,461 6,734,397
Total other investinents held at amortised cost 8,343,800 8.858,239 2,056,617 1,229,146 10,400,423 10,087,385
Allowanees for npainment - - {10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000)
Total other investments held at amortised cost, net 8,343,806 i RAR 210 2,046,617 1,219,146 10,390,423 10,077,385
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR™000

Domestic frternatinnal Total
iv) Held to marurity 2010 2009 2019 2009 0i9 2009
Fixed rate securities 73,375 409,984 - - 73,375 409,984
Floating rate securitics 50,000 - 103,48¢ 227,650 153,481 227,650
Total held to maturity 123,375 409.984 103,481 227,650 126,856 637,634
Allowances for impairment - - - (55,000) - (55,000)
Total held to maturity, net 123,375 409,984 103,481 172,650 226,856 582,634
Total investments, net 9,418,404 10,444,681 2,333,261 1,686,873 11,751,665 12,131,554

b) Investments reclassification

The Group identificd certain investments within available for sale investments portfolio, for which at July 1, 2008, jt had a clear intention to hold the
msiruments for the foreseeable future rather than 1o exit or trade in the short term. As a result these instruments were reclassified from AFS to cther
investments held at amortised cost. The reelassification was made at fair value at that date. Had the rectassification not been made, other rescrves would have
included unrealised fair value losses amounting to SAR 23 million (2009: SAR 57 millien) and sharcholders” equity would have been lower by the same
amount.

The following table shows carrying values and fair values of the reclassified invesiments:

2019 2010 2009 2009
Carrving value Fair value Carrving value Fair value

Available for sale securities reclassified to other investments held at
amortised cost 594,515 553,544 587,848 519,382

) The composition of investments is as follows:
2019 2009

Quoted Ungquoted Total Quoted Urnquoted Toial
Fixed rate securities - 4,518,137 4,518,137 - 3,930,924 3,930,924
Floating rate securities 3,006,132 4,136,563 7,142,695 2,349,453 5,740,238 8,089,69
Mutual funds 26,863 - 26,863 33,396 - 33,396
Equities - 4,236 4,236 - 4,736 4,236
Index Ninked securiues - 59,734 59,734 - 73,307 73,307
Investments, net 3,032,995 8,718,670 11,751,665 2,382,849 9,748,705 12,131,554

Unguoted securities above principally eomprise Saudi Government Development Bonds {SGDBs). Such SGDBs are traded in an inter-bank market within
Saudi Arabia and values are determined aceording to an approprate pricing model.

d) The analysis of unrealised gains and losses and fair values of other investments Lield at amortised cost and held-to-maturity investments, are as
follows:

2010 2009
Carrying Gross Gross Carrying Gross Gross
valiee, net of unrealised unrealised Fair value, ner of unreatised unreatised Fair
allowanges guins fosses value allowaices galns losses value
i) Other investinents
held at amortised cost
Fixed-rate seeurities 4,314,962 16,236 (1,075) 4,330,123 3,352,988 33,811 (4,302} 3,382,497
Floalmng ratc securities 6,075,46) 84,891 (44,343) 6,116,009 6,724,397 42,454 (72,867 6,693,984
Total 10,390,423 101,127 (45,418) 10,446,132 10,077,385 76,265 (77,169) 10,076,481
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

2010 2009
Carrying Gross Gross Carrying Gross Gross
value, net of nnrealised unrealised Fair vaive, nei of unrealised unrealised Fair
alfowances gains fesses valwe  allewances gains {osses volue
§i) Held to malurily
Fixed-rate securities 73,375 6,906 - 80,281 409,984 8,251 - 418,235
Floating rate securities 153,481 - (13,106) 140,375 172,650 - (32,779} 139,871
Total 226,856 6,906 (13,106) 220,656 582,634 8,251 (32,779) 558,106
e) The analysis of investments by counter party is as follows:
2010 2009
Governmen! and quasi-governinent 9,102,512 10,452,860
Corporales 1,469,469 817,803
Banks and other financial institutions 1,148,586 823,276
Others 31,098 37,615
Total 11,751,665 12,131,554

[nvestmems include SAR 535 million (2009: SAR 877 million) which has been pledged under repurchase agreements with customers. The market value of
thes¢ investiments is SAR 546 million (2009: SAR 1,075 million).

f) Credit risk exposures of Investments

2010 2009

Fixed rate Floating rate Fixedrate  Floating rate

securities securities Others Total securities sgeurities Others Total
AAA - 134,223 - 134,223 93,505 93,505
AA-To AA+ 4,518,137 5,169,961 56,889 9,744,987 3,930,924 6,691,200 10,622,124
A- To At - 640,399 - 640,399 525,458 525,458
BBB- To BBB+ - 311,358 - 311,358 268472 268,472
Lower than BBB - 88,643 - 88,643 82,640 - 82,640
Unrated - 798,111 33,944 832,055 428416 110,939 539,355
Total 4,518,137 7,142,695 90,833 11,751,665 3,930,924 8,089,691 110,939 12,131,554
g) Allowances for impairment on investments
Allowances for impairment on investments during the ycar were SAR 9.2 millien (2009: SAR 160 millien).
LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET
a) Loans and advances held at amortised cost

Credit Consumer Commercial

2010 Overdrafl Cards loans loans Total
Performing loans and advances-gross 3,104,079 128,539 3,485,985 28,447,361 35,265,965
Non performing loans and advances, net 661,260 11,069 45,714 212,949 930,992
Total leans and advances 3,765,339 239,608 3,531,699 18,660,311 36,196,957
Allowances for specific and portfolio ympairment {742,645) (11,326) (38,722) (365,285) (1,157,978)
Loans and advances, net 3,022,694 228,282 3,492,977 28,295,026 35,038,979
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For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

2009

Performing loans and advances-gross
Non performing loans and advances, net

Total loans and advances
Allowances for specific and portfolic impairment

Loans and advances, net

b) Movements in Allowances for impairment of credil losses

2010

Balance at beginning of the year

Provided during the year

Bad debts written off

Recoverics of amounis previously provided

Balancc at the ¢nd of the year

2009

Balance at beginning of Lhe year

Provided during the year

Bad debts wrilten oft

Recovenies of amounts previously provided

Balancc at the end of the year
¢} Credit quality of loans and advances

i) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

c P

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit Consumer  Commercial
Overdraft Cards Loans lpans Total
3,813,173 203,005 3,149,452 28,862,228 36,027,858
1,906,042 9,258 39,001 286,743 2,241,054
5,719,215 212,263 3,188,463 24,148,971 38,268,912
{2,026,059) (5,542) (48.070) (166,271) (2,245,942
3,693,156 206,721 3,140,393 28,982,700 36,022,970
Credit Consumer Commercial
Qverdraft Cards Loans loans Total
2,026,059 5,542 48,070 166,271 2,245,942
152,000 21,563 49,314 202,789 425,666
(1,434,308) (8,140 (34,242) - (1,476,690)
(1,106) (7,639) {24,420) (3,775) (36,940)
742,645 . 1,3__26_ ______JAB_,G'E 365,285 _1,157,978
924,436 11,326 38,722 176,143 1,150,627
1,101,623 16,748 67,760 10,915 1,197,046
- {16,730) (36,151) - (52,881)
- (5,302) (22261) (20,787) {48,850)
5,542 48,070 166,271 2,245,942

2,026,059

The Group has categorised its porifolio of loans and advances that are neither past duc nor impaired inlo three sub categorics i.e. strong, satisfactory and walch

according to the Group's internal rating system.

Loans and advances under the sirong category are performing, have sound fundamental characteristics and include those that cxhibit neither current nor

potential weaknesses.

Loans and advance under the sausfaclory catcgory are of sufficicnt quality to meet its financial obligations in the medium term, but could be impacted by

adverse business or economic conditions.

The wateb category includes loans and advances that are performing, eurrent and up to date in terms of principal and special commission payments, However,
they require close management atiention as they may have potential weaknesses that could, at some future date, resuit in the detenoration of the repayment
prospects of ¢ither the prineipal or the special commission. The watch category 1oans and advances would not expose the Group to sufficient risk to warrant a

waorse elassification.

2010

Strong
Sausfactory
Yatch

Total

Credit Consumer Commercial
Qverdraft Cards Loans loans Total
1,125,524 207,643 3,431,107 13,216,939 17,981,213
1,366,290 10,052 8,196 14,683,262 16,067,800
277,407 956 239 389,836 668,438
2,769,221 218,651 3,439,542 28,290,037 34,717,451
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For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR000

2009

Sirong
Satisfactory
Watch

Total

iy Ageing of loans and advances (Past due but not impaired)

018

From 1 day Lo 30 days
From 31 days lo 90 days
From 91 days 1o 180 days
More than 180 days

Total

2009

From | day 10 30 days
From 31 days to 90 days
From 91 days to 180 days
More than 180 days

Total

c P

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Out of the past due loans for 2010 loans amounting to SAR 62 millien are fully securcd by collateral (2009: SAR 478 matlion)

d) Economic sector risk concentration for the loans and advances and allowances lor impairment are as follows:

2018

Government and quasi-government
Banks and other financial insiitutions
Agriculure and {ishing
Manufacturing

Mining and quarrying

Electricity, water, gas and health services
Building and construction

Commerce

Transportation and communication
Services

Consumer loans and credit cards
Others

Portfolic impaivment allowances

Total

Credit Consumer  Commercial
Overdraft Cards Loans loans Total
1,680,199 163,701 2,942,352 14,454,R99 19,241,151
1,267,878 7,959 6,499 13,890,209 15,172,545
189,940 979 970 258,912 450,801
3,138,017 172,639 2,949 821 28,604,020 34,864,497
Credit Consumer  Commercial
Overdraft Cards Loans loans Total
28,885 4,041 21,294 39,947 94,167
9,781 5,847 25,149 56,163 96,940
- - - 28,465 28,465
296,192 - - 32,750 328,942
334,858 9,888 46,443 157,325 548,514
2355 26,154 166,624 19,244 214,377
182,795 4212 33,007 - 220,014
16,400 - 2,826 19,226
473,606 236,138 709.744
675,156 30.366 199.631 258,208 1,163,361
Allowances
Non for Loans and
Perlorming performing  impairment advances, net
2,369,483 - . 2,369,483
1,197,190 - - 1,197,190
367,04% 23,231 (23,231) 367,049
7,827,346 119,016 (111,241) 7,835,121
302,274 - - 302,274
1,692,207 38,144 (14,867) 1,715,484
5,228,508 54,070 (52,827) 5,229,751
7,529,166 512,973 (507,306) 7,534,833
420,794 28 (28) 420,794
1,818,761 96,391 (96,391) 1,818,761
3,714,525 56,783 - 3,771,208
2,798,662 30,356 (16,644) 2,812,374
35,265,965 930,992 (822,535) 35,374,422
- - (335,443) (335,443)
35,265,965 930,992 (1,157,978) 35,038,979
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR000

Non Allowances Loans and
2009 Performing performing for impairment  advances, net
Government and quasi-govermment 2,452,186 - - 2,452,186
Banks and other financial institutions 1,226,356 - - 1,226,356
Agriculture and fishing 370,415 23,267 (23,267) 370415
Manufacturing 6,354,436 1,326,325 (1,120,545) 6,560,216
Mining and quarrying 241,266 - - 241,266
Electriciry, water, gas and health services 1,436,563 - - 1,436,563
Building and censtruction 4,805,199 58,152 (56,570) 4,806,781
Commerce 10,158,053 395,100 {395,100) 16,158,053
Transportation and communication 681,682 10,484 (10,483 681,683
Services 1,939,393 339,852 (315,785) 1,963,460
Consumer loans and credit cards 3,352,457 49,541 - 3,401,998
Others 3,009,852 38,333 38,110y 3,010,075

36,027,858 2,241,054 (1,959,860) 36,309,052

Portfolic allowances - (286,082) (285,082)

Total 36,027,858 2,241,054 {2.245,942) 36,022,970

Loans and advances, include lslamic products of SAR 13.55 billion (2009: SAR 11.45 billion)
¢) Collateral

The Group, in the ordinary course of its lending activitics holds cellateral 10 mitigate the associated credit risk. This mosily consists of time, demand and other
cash deposits, financial guarantees, local and intemational equities, real estatc and other fixed assels. Collaleral is mainly held against commercial and
consumer loans and is managed against relevant exposures at its net realisable value. The fair value of collateral held by the Group against loans and advances
at December 31 2010 is SAR 7,746 million (2009: SAR 7,504 millien).

f) Loans and advances renegotiated

Restructuring aclivities include exiended repayment arrangements, approved external management plans and modification or deferral of paymenis. Following
restructuring, previously overdue customer aceounts are regel to a normal status and managed together with other simular accounts. Rencgotiated loans thal
would otherwise be past due or impaired totaled SAR 740 million (2009: SAR 8% million).

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

Investment in associate represents a 20 % shareholding interest in Waltaniya Insuranee Company formed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, pursuant to Royal
Deeree No. 26/30 dated 16 Rabi’ {1 1430H (corresponding 1o April 12, 2009). Although the company staned its comercial operations during the current
finaneial year, the Group did not account for its portion of the associate’s profits or losses as the results of the associate for the period, ascording to its
management accounts, are nel material to those of the Group.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

9.1 Property and equipment details are as follows:

Computer Capital Work

Land and Leasehold hardware and Furnilure and Motor  In Progress

Buildings Improvements soltware Fixtures Vehicles (CWIP) Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning of the year 139,526 226,470 499,328 131,488 3,913 209,191 1,209,916
Additions during the year - - - 16,729 467 79,560 96,756
Disposals / write off during the year (5,925) - {12,667} - - - (18,592)
Transfers from CWIP during the year 75,183 40,125 50,985 26,742 - (193,135) -
Balance at end of the year 208,884 266,595 537,646 174,959 4,380 95,616 1,288,080
Accurnulated depreeiation/ Amortisation
Balance at beginning of the year 51,272 195,980 358,480 105,019 2,557 - 713,308
Charge for the year 3,713 13,204 63,117 11,688 491 - 921,223
Wrile off during the year - - (12,667) - - - (12,667)
Balance at end of the year 54,995 209,184 408,930 116,707 3,048 - 792,864
Net book value:
As al 31 Deceraber 2010 153,889 57,411 128,716 58,152 1,332 95,616 495216
As at 31 December 2009 88,254 30,490 140,848 26,469 1,356 209,191 496,608
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Amountis in SAR’000

9.2 Gain on sale of land

During the year the Group disposed off a land which it considered surplus 10 its requirements. This land was initially acquired with a view 10 build the regiona}
office premises in Eastern Region. The originat cost of the land amounted to SAR 5.93 million and sale proceeds were SAR 1241 million. Necessary
regulatory approvals were oblained for the sale.

OTHER ASSETS
Accrued special comimission receivable: 20{0 2009
Banks and other financial institutions 1,358 42,555
Investments 40,441 33,417
Loans and advances 209,431 216,990G
Others 84,638 123,719
Total accrued special commission receivable 335,868 417,081
Accounts receivable 631,098 415,147
Positive fair valuc of derivatives (note 11) 297,821 182,071
Other real estale - 8,597
QOrhers 3,187 7,192
Total 1,267,974 1,030,088

DERIVATIVES
In the ordinary course of business, the Group utilises the following derivative financial instruments for both trading and hedging purposes:
a) Swaps

Swaps are eommitments to exchange one sel of cash flows for auother. For coinmission rate swaps, counlerparlies generally exehange fixed and floating rate
commission payments in a single currency without exchanging principal. For cross-currency comunission rtate swaps, principal aud fixed and floating
commission payments are exchanged in different currcncies.

b) Forwards and lulures

Forwards and futures are contractual agreements 1o either buy or scll a specified curreney, commodity or financial instrument ar a specified price and date in
the future. Forwards are customised conwracts transacted in the over-the-counter markel. Foreign currency and commission vate futures are lransacted in
standardised amounts on regnlated exchanges and changes in futures contrael values are setiled daily.

¢) Forward-rate agreements

Forward-rate agreements are individually negotiated commission rale contracts thal call for a cash setilement of tbe difference between a contracied
commission rate and the markel rate on a specified future date, based on a notional principal and an agreed period of time.

d) Options

Options are confractual agreements under which the seller {writer) grants the purchascr (holder) the right, but not the obligation, to cither buy or sell at fixed
future date or at any 1ime during a specified period, a specified amount of a cunency, commeodity or financial ingtrument at a pre-detcrmined price.

Derivatives held for trading purposes

Most of the Group's derivative trading activitics relaie to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve offering produets to customers and banks in
order, inter alia, 1o enable them (0 wansfer, modify or reduec current and future risks. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation
of profiting from favourable movements in prices, rales or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying price differentials between arkets or produets, with the
cxpeclation of profiting.

Derivatives held for hedging purposes

The Group has adopted a process for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management process involves managing the Group’s cxposure
to fluctuations in foreign cxchange aud commission rates to reduce ils ¢xposurc 10 currency and commission rate risks to acceptable levels as determined by the
Board of Directors and within guidelines 1ssued by SAMA.

The Board of Directors has established levels of currency tisk by sctung limits on counterparty and currency position exposurcs. Positions arc monilored on a
daily basis and hedging strategies are used to cnsure that positions are maintained within the established limns. The Board of Dircctors has also eslablished the
levels of commission rate visk by settiug limits on special comrmssion rate gaps for stipulated periods. Asset and liability comnussion rale gaps are revicwed on
a periodie basis and hedging strategies ate used to reduce commission rate gaps within the established limits.
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As part of its asset and liabiliry management process, the Group uses derivanives for hedging purposes in order to adjust its own cxposure Lo currency and
commission rale risks. This is generally achieved by hedging specific transactions.

The Group uses commission rate swaps (o hedge against the commission rate risk ansing from specifically idemified fixed commission rate exposures, The
Group also uses commission rate swaps to hedge against the cash flow risk anising on certain floating-rate exposures. In all such cases, the hedging relationship
and objective, including details of the hedged items and hedging instrument, are formally documented and 1he transactions are ageounted for as fair value or
cash flow hedges.

Cash flow hedges

The Group is exposed to variability in future special commission cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear comumission at a variable rate. The
Group uscs comunission rate swaps as cash flow hedges of these commission rate risks. The table below indicates as a1 31 Degember 2010, the periods when
the hedged eash flows are expected 1o occur and when they are cxpected 1o affect profil or loss:

2018 2009
Within I year [-3 vears Within 1 year 1-3 vears
Casb inflows (assels) 3,297 15,944 3,784 -
Cash out flows (liabililies) 10,068 20,163 22,530 -
Nel cash outflows 6,771 4,219 18,746

The 1ables below show Ibe positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments held, logether with the notional amounts, analysed by the term
to maturity and monthly average. The notional amoums, which provide an indication of the velumes of the transactions outstanding at the year-end, do not
necessarily reflect (be amounts of future eash flows involved. These notional amounts are, therefore, neither indicative of the Group’s exposure to eredit risk,
which is generally limited (0 the positive fair value of the denivalives, nor market risk.

Notional amonnits by maturity

National Within
Derivartive financial Positive Negative aniount three 3-12 1-5 Over 5 Monthily
instriments fair value fair value foral months Months Years Years Average
Held for trading:
Comnussion rate swaps 149,378 148,071 19,556,467 2,228,503 3%12,721 11,946,785 1,468,458 20,556,443
Forward foreign
exchange conlracts 116,952 101,851 37,258,305 18,721,776 17,948,645 588,384 - 40,275,625
Curreney options 22,114 21,375 6,036,749 2,047,397 1,829,295 2,160,057 - 3,062,974
Forward rate agreements 105 13 600,000 - 600,000 - - 900,000
Held as fair value hedges:
Comnmission rate swaps 9,272 13,002 2,092,356 5,000 424470 1,425,385 237,501 1,770,622
Held as cash flow hedges:
Commission rate swaps - 10,820 350,000 - - 350,000 - 650,000
TFotal 297,821 295,132 65,894,377 23,002,676 24,715,131 16,470,611 1,705,959
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Notioral amounis by maturity

Notional Within
Derivative fincncial Positive Negative amount three 3-i2 -5 Over 5 Monthly
insiruments 2009 fair value fair value tolal wonths Moriths Years Years Average
Held for trading:
Commission rate swaps 139,668 135,885 23,549,321 1,462,108 6,775,923 12,943,152 2,168,138 21,768,245
Forward foreign
exchange eoniracts 17,794 9910 30,421,852 18,450,805 11,378,076 592,971 - 35,952,265
Currency oplions 774 774 193,031 94,107 98,924 - - 1,454,280
Forward rate agreemcents 301 249 1,450,000 - 1,450,000 - - 1,412,500
Held as fair value hedges:
Commission rale swaps 7,354 25,513 1,601,104 - 184,564 1,416,540 - 2,475,841
Held as cash {low hedges:
Commission rate swaps 16,180 - 800,000 - 450,000 350,000 - 925,000
Total 182,071 172,331 58,015,308 20,007,020 20,337,487 15,302,663 2,368,138
The 1ables below show a summary of hedged items, the nawre of the risk being hedged, the hedging instrument and it's fair value:
Hedge
Fair inception Hedging Positive Negative
Descriprion of hedged items value value Risk Instrument fair valie fuir value
2010
Commission
Floating commission rale investmenls 185,006 206,250  Fair value rate swaps - 127
Commission
Fixed commission rate investments 594,660 558,750  Fair value rite swaps 7,642 -
Conmumission
Subordinated debts 350,027 350,000 Cash flow rate swaps - 10,820
Comunission
Deposits laken 122,980 120,000  Fair value rate swaps 3,439 -
Commission
Loans and advanees 918,215 893,797  Fair value rate swaps - 14,690
Description of hedged irems
2009
Commission
Floaling commission rate investments 217,809 249 487 Fair value ratc swaps 1,709 120
Commission
Floating commission rate investments 451,420 450,000  Cash flow rate swaps 18,951 -
Commission
Deposits taken 122,980 120,000 Fair value rale swaps 8,147 -
Commission
Loans and advances 992,521 969,014 Fair value rale swaps - 27,718

The positive fair value of derivatives amounting to SAR 297.82 mullion (2009. SAR 182.07 million) 1s reflecied in other assets (note 10). The negative faw
value of derivatives amounting 1o SAR 295.13 million (2009: SAR 172.33 million) is reflected in other habiliues {note 14).

Approximately 61% {2009: 5396) of the positive fair value of the Group’s derivalives are entered joto with financial institunons and less than 9% (2009: 14%)
of the positive fair value contracts are wilh any single counterparty at the reporting date, Dersvative activilies are carried out by the Group's treasury segment.
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DUE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Current accounts

Call/ Overnight
Money marker deposits

Total

CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS
Time

Demand

Saving

Otbers

Total

Time deposils include:

1) Deposits designated as FVIS
1) Deposits under repurchasc agreements with customers
iii) Islamic deposits

c P

2010 2009
510,649 715,217
358 4,302
2,346,005 5,037,037
1,857,012 5,756,556
23,764,572 29,104,109
16,894,955 14,793,301
350,059 331,667
594,033 598,212
41,603,619 44,827,289
59,734 73,307
534,800 876,800
10,339,000 11,047,000

Customers’ dcposils include SAR 554 million (2009: SAR 499 million) of margins held for irrevocable commilments, non commission based deposits

amounting to SAR 16.30 billion (2009: SAR 14.21 billion) and foreign currency deposits as follows:

Timc
Demand
Saving
Others

Toltal

OTHER LIABILITIES

Accrued special commission payable:

Banks and other financial institutions
Customer deposils

Subordinated debt

Others

Total accraed special comumnission papable

Accrued expenses and aecounts payable
Negative fair value of derivatives (note |1}
Onhers

Total

SUBORDINATED DEBT

Subordinated debt includes the following debt secunties:

2010 2009
6,957,924 8,814,993
1,723,808 1,443,824

34,368 36,959
11,630 20,905
8,737,730 10,316,681
828 2,981
65,408 108,434
234 26,167
119,255 163,217
185,725 300,799
673,928 582,763
295,132 172,331
380,041 237,158
1,534,826 1,393,051

On 30 December 2009, the Group issued SAR 725 mullion unsceured subordinated Mudaraba Cerlificates (the Cerlificates), due in 2019, through public offer
The Group tnay al its option, but subject to the prior written approval of SAMA redeem the Certificates ar their redemption amount al the end of 2014 o at 1he
end of each calendar year thercafter until 2018, or in the event of certan changes affccling laxation and regulatory eapital treatment of these Mudaraba

Certificates.
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On 29 December 2008, the Group issued SAR 775 million unseeured subordinated Mudaraba Ceruficates (the Certificatcs), due in 2018. The Group may at its
option, but subject to the prior wrinen approval of SAMA redeem the Certifieates at their redemption amount at the end of 2013 or at the end of each calendar
year thereafier unlil 2047, or in the event of ceniain changes affecting taxation and regulatory capital treatment of these Mudaraba Certificates.

The Group has not defaulied of principal or comnussion or other breaches with regard 10 any of these liabilities during 2010 or 2009,

SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised, issued and fully paid sharc capital consisls of 330.75 million {2009: 330,75 million) shares of SAR 10 (2009: SAR 10) each.
The ownership of the Bank’s share capital is as follows:

Percentage 201 2009
Saudi shareholders 60% 1,984,500 1,984,50C
ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (The Netherlands) 40% 1,323,000 1,323,000
Total 100% 3,307,500 3,307,500
STATUTORY RESERVE
[n aecordance with Saudi Arabian Banking Comrol Law and the Articles of Assoeiation of the Bank, a minimum of 25% of 1he annual net income is required
to be transferred to a statutory reserve until this reserve equals the paid up capual of the Bank. Accordingly, SAR 198 million has been (ransferred from net
income (2009: SAR 21.5 million). The siatutory reserve is not available for distribulion.
OTHER RESERVES

Available for
Cash flow sale
hedges  investments Toral

2010
Balance at beginning of the year 16,180 (7,185) 8,995
Net change in fair value (29,391) (14,305) (43,696)
Transfer to consolidated income statement 2,391 2,394 4,785
Balance at end of the year (10,820) (19,096) (29,916)
2009
Balanec at beginning of the year 23,151 (68,562) (45,411)
Net cbange in fair value (10,831) 64,398 53,567
Transfer 10 consolidated income statement 3,860 3.02n 819
Balance at end of the year . 16,180 (7,185) 8,995
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a) Legal proceedings

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 there were cerlain legal proceedings outstanding against the Group (hat arese in the normal course of business. No provision
has beeu madc as professional lcgal advice indicates that it 15 not probable that any siznificant loss will arise in respect of these proceedings.

by Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2010 the Group had capital commitments of SAR 9.38 million {2009: SAR 17.85 nullion) in respect of lcasehold improvements and
equipment purchases.
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c) Credil related commitments and contingencies

The primary purpose of these instrumeuts is to ensure that funds are available o cusiomers as required.

Guarantees and stand-by letters of credil, which represent irrevocable assuranees that the Group will make payments in the evenl that a eustomer cannot meel
ils obligations to thid parties. carry the same eredil risk as loans and advances. Cash requiremeuts under guarantees and standby letiers of credit are
considerably Iess than the amount of the ecramumeut because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under the agreement.

Docurmentary letters of credit are writteu underiakings by the Group on behalf of a ecusiomer authorising a third party 10 draw drafis on the Group up 10 a
stipulated amount under specific terms and condinions and are gencrally collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore
have significantly less risk.

Accepiances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group expects most aeceplances 10 be presented before
being reimbursed by the customers.

Commitmenis 10 extend credit represent the unused portion of authorisalions te extend credit, principally in the form of loans and advances, goarantees and
lerters of eredit. With respect 1o credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposcd to a loss in an amount equal Lo (he tal unused
comumitments. However, the likely amount of loss, which cannot readily be quantified, is ¢cxpecied to be considerably less than the tolal unused commitment as
most commitments 10 extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The total outstanding commitments to exiend credit do
not necessarily represent furure cash requirements, as many of the commitmens could cxpirc or terminate without being funded.

i) The contractual maturities of the Group’s commitments and contingencies are as follows:

Within 3 3te 12 fies Over §

2010 months months Years Years Total
Leners of credit 592,385 2,138,415 694,545 58,281 3,483,626
Leticrs of guaraniee [,138,014 856,819 7,697,983 1,988,188 11,711,004
Acceplanecs 998,082 1,037,340 52,349 245 2,088,016
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 6,500 81,902 38,621 55,406 182,429
Total 2,734,981 4,144,476 8,483,498 2,102,120 17,465,075
2009

Letters of credit 505,001 1,627,502 462,016 51,538 2,646,057
Letters of guarantee 562 1,406,807 7,696,866 1,822,773 10,927,008
Acceptances 660,453 293,007 73,469 97% 1,627,908
Irrevocable commitments o extend credit 18.454 75,515 494,710 251,219 839,938
Toial 1,184,510 4,002,831 8,727,061 2,126,509 16,040,911
ii) Commitments and contingencies by counterparty are as follows: 010 009
Government and quasi-government 73,535 71,704
Corporale 14,491,471 13,516,056
Banks and other financial institutions 2,730,892 2,200,754
Other 169,177 252,397
Total 17,465,075 16,040,911
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d) Operating lease comniitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases where the Group is a tessee, are as follows:

2010 2009
Less than § year 44,318 42,859
!to 5 years 116,470 113,598
Qver S years 63,805 80,534
Total 224,613 236,991
SPECIAL COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE
Special commission income
Investments:
Available for sale 24,772 31,743
Held 1o maturity 6,529 26,382
Other invesiments held a1 amortised cost 163,761 387,268
Due from banks and other financial institutions 38,756 64,487
Loans and advances 1,391,179 1,770,319
Total 1,624,997 2,280,199
Special commission expense
Due 10 banks and other finaneial institutions 24,634 158,544
Subordinated debt 46,667 46,463
Customers” deposits 266,365 505,146
Total 337,666 710,153
FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME, NET
Fee and commission income:
Share brokcrage and fund management, net 48,666 61,348
Trade finance 168,272 144,455
Corporate finanec and advisory 126,838 79,023
Credit cards 68,341 61,715
Other banking services 88,336 57.378
Total fee and commission income 500,453 403,919
Fee expenses:
Credit cards 39,891 32,533
Other banking services . 5,735_ 5,384
Total fee expenses 45,626 37,917
Fee and commission, net 454,827 366,002
INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AS FVIS, NET
Fair value change on investinents designated as FVIS 1,250 1,246
Special commission ineome on desiguated as FVIS, net 4,139 1,343
Total income 5,389 2,589
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TRADING INCOME, NET 2014 2009
Foreign exchange, net 50,064 65,763
Investmenis held for trading 14,815 8,597
Derivatives 21,318 50,875
Trading incore, net 86,197 125,235
SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE RELATED PAYMENTS
Following arc the details of compensation paid to the various categories of employees of the Group during the year:

Number of Fixed Variable Total Forms of
Categories of emplovees employees compensation compensalion compensation payment
Senior execulives who require SAMA's no objeelion 22 25,539 6,378 31,917 Cash
Employces engaged in control and risk imanagement functions 66 15,067 537 15,604 Cash
Employees engaged in risk taking activities 411 83,397 7,994 91,391 Cash
Other cmployees 1,147 175,928 14,044 189,972 Cash

Outsourced employees involved in risk taking activities - - - - -

Senior executives who require SAMA's no objection:
This comprises senior management having responsibility and authority for formulating strategies and directing and eontrolling the activities of the Group. This
covers the Managing Director (MD) and eertain direct reports to the MD.

Employees engaged in control and risk management functions:

This refers to employees working in divisions thal are not involved in risk taking activities but are engaged in review functions, for example Risk Management,
Compliance, Internal Audit and Finance. These funciions are fully independent from the risk taking units.

Employees engaged in risk taking activities:

This comprises slaff within business lines (Corporate Banking, Personal Banking, Treasury and SHIC), who are responsible for executing and implemeoting the
business strategy on behalf of the Group, for example staff involved in recommending credit limits, pricing of loans, underlaking and executing business
proposals, freasury dealing aclivities, invesiment management and brokerage serviees.

Other employees:

This includes all other employees of the Group, excluding those already mentioned above.

Outsourced employees involved in risk taking aetivitics:

There arc no outsourced employecs involved in risk taking activities.

Group Compensation policy:

The purpose of the policy is to establish and apply compensation policies and processes whieh support delivery of business strategy, reinforee the desired
organisational culture, reflect prudent risk management and comply with SAMA Regulalions.

The Group's compensation policy is aimed at rewarding both risk-adjusted performance and appropriate behaviour in line with the Group's core values. To this
end, performance measurements are risk adjusted and reviewed by the independent Risk Management function. In addition, the Compensation Policy is
reviewed by Risk Management to ensure rewards are adjusted [or the level of risk incurred.

The Board of Directors are rcsponsible for ensurieg the cffective iinplemcntation of the compensaton poliey. The Board is advised by the Nominations and
Renmuneration Commitice ("The Committce") which comprises three independent Non Executive Directors. The Committee receives reports and
recommendations from the Executive Management supported by Human Resources. The Commultee reviews and approves all compeusation decisions relating
lo all employees.

Heads of business units and control functions being monitored and/or controlled by Internal Audit, Compliance, Risk Management and Credn Risk will not
have any input lo compensation decisions of employees in the control funcuions. Compensation recommendations are delermined based on a elear
understanding of the inended total reward package and the decisions are taken considering the balance between extemnal competiliveness and affordability
together with focusing atiention on building motivational and performance related compensation airangements

Comparative information has not been provided as SAMA's circular no. 26194/BCS/12580 dated May 03, 2010 requires disclosure of the above information
for the current and prospective tinaneial years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable 1o the
equity sharcholders by total number of shares in issne.

DIVIDENDS, ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX
No dividend has been proposed for the year 2010 (2009: SAR Nul).

Zakat and income 1ax payable for the year are as follows:

a) Saudi shareholders:

Zakar atiributable to Sandi sharcholders for the ycar amounted to approximately SAR 15 million (2009: SAR 3 million), which will be dedueted from their
share of future dividends.

b} Non-Saudi shareholders:

Income lax payable on Lhe eurrent year’s share of ineome of foreign shareholders’ is approximalely SAR 62 nrillion (2009: SAR 14 million), which will be
deducted from their share of future dividends.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash cgnivalenis included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following:

2010 2009
Cash and balances with SAMA exeluding statutory deposits (note 4) 2,771,473 7,173,552
Duc from barks and other financiat institutions maturing within 3 months
or less from the date of acquisition 201,727 24,629
Tolal 2,973,200 7,198,181
OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operaling segments are identified on the basis of inlernal reports abont components of the Group (hat are regularly reviewed by the chicf decigion maker in
order to allocatc resources and 10 assess performance. Transaclions berween reportable segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Funds are
ordinarily reallocated between reportable segments, resulting in funding eost (ransfers. Commuission is charged to reportable segments based on a pool rate,
which approximates the marginal cost of funds. Following are the reportable business segments of the Group:

Corporale banking

The corporale banking group offers a range of products and services lo eorporate and institurional customers. [t accepts customer deposils and provides
financing, including term loans, overdralts, syndicated loans, trade finance services, treasury and derivative products and foreign exehange. Services provided
to customers include intermet banking, global transaction serviees and a centralised service that manages all enstomer transfers, eleetronic or otherwise.

Consumer banking

The consumer banking group operates through a national network of branches and ATMs supported by a 24-hour phone banking center. The Group aecepis
customers’ deposits in various savings and deposit accounts and provides retail banking products and services, ineluding consumer loans, gverdrafls, credit
cards, o individuals and small-to-medium-sized enterprises.

Treasury

Treasury transacts mainly moncy markel, foreign exchange, inlerest rale trading and derivalives for eorporate and institutional customers as well as for the
Group’s own account. [t is also responsible for funding the Group’s opcrations, mainlaining bank-wide liquidity and managing the Group's mvesiment
portfolio and consclidaled siatemnent of financial positiont.

Investment banking and investment services

The investment banking and services group offers dealing, managing, amangmg, advising and maintaining custody services in relation Lo sccurities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

a) The lollowing is an analysis of the Bank's assels, revenue and results by operating segments [or the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009,

2010

Total assets

Tolal liabilities

Fee and commission income, net
Trading income, nct

Total operaning income

Impairment charge for credit tosses, nct
Impairment charge for investments
Depreciation / amortisation

Total operating expenses

Net operating income for the year

2009

Total assels

Total liabstities

Fec and commission income, net
Trading income, net

Total operating income

Impairment charge for credit losses, nel
Impairment charge for investments
Depreciation / amortisation

Tolal operating expenses

Net operating income for the year

b} The Group’s credit exposure by business sepment is as [ollows:

b

)

.
=

|

Non-derivative assels
Commitmenls and conlingencies
Derivalives

o

0

)

Non-derivative assels
Commitmenis and eontingengies
Derivatives

Corporate
Banking

30,685,145
21,332,976
324,143
3,064
1,125,257
(337,068)
(24,585)
(580,264)
544,993

Corporate
Banking

33,881,231
23,277,194
215,966
8,456
1,132,067
(1,004,274)
(19,645
{1,307,632)
(175,565)

Consitmer
Banking

4,524,406
14,713,923
57,290
12,461
461,769
(51,658)
(67,346)
(383,885)
77,884

Consumer
Banking

4,590,357
15,135,075
46,61}
8,581
569,613
(53,922)
(57,573)
(508,527)
64,086

Corporate
Banking
30,685,145
9,412,941

31,558,418
8,553,397

Treasury

18,180,734
11,429,147
13,908
70,672
105,293
(9,200)
(292)
(149,561)
155,732

Treasury

20,054,035
14,951,864
17463
108,198
361,957
(100,048)
(198)
(192,283
169,674

Consmmner
Banking

4,524,406

4,058,519

tnvesiinent
banking and
investment
services

482,128
19,411
59,486
61,764

(56,422)

5,342

Investment
banking and
investmen!
services

584,095
112,763
75,962
82,925
(55,189)
27,736

Treasury

11,909,974

1,092,802

12,696,521

856,787

Credit exposure comprises the cartying value of assets excluding eash and balances with SAMA, property and equipment and other assets.

CREDIT RISK

Total

53,882,413
47,495,457
454,827
86,197
1,954,083
(388,726)
(5,200)
(92,223)
(1,170,132)
783,951

Toral

59,109,718
53,476,806
366,002
125,235
2,146,562
(1,148,196)
(100,048)
(77.414)
(2,060,631)
85,931

Total

47,119,525
9,412,941
1,092,802

48,313,458
8,553,397
856,787

Credit risk is the risk that one pany to a finaneial instrument will fail w discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial Joss. Credit
exposures arise principally in lending activines that lead 10 loans and advances, and invesiment activities There is also credit risk in off statement of the
consolidaled financial position financial instrwinents, sueh as loan commitments. The Group controls credit nsk by monitoring eredit exposures, limting
transactions with specific eounterparties, and contmually assessing the ereditworthiness of counterparties.
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In addition to monitoring credit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating 1o its rading activities by entering into master netting agreements and
coliateral arrangements with counterparties in appropriate cireumslances, and by limiting the duration of exposure. In cerain cases Management may also close
out transactions or assign them io other counterparties to mitigate eredil risk. The Group’s credit risk on derivatives represents the potential cost to replace the
derivative contracts if counterparties fail to fulfi)l their obligation. To eontrol the tevel of credit risk taken. Management assesses ecunterparties using the same
techriaues as for ils lendine activities.

Concentrations of credit tisk arisc when a number of counterpartics are engaged m similar business aelivities or activities in the same geographic region, or
have similar cconomic features that would cause their ability 10 meet1 eontractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other
eonditions.

Concentrations of credit risk indicate the rclative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developmenis affecting a particular industry or geographical
location.

Management secks 1o manage eoncentration of credit risk through the diversification of lending activilies 10 ensure that there is no undue coneentration of risks
with individuats or groups of customers in specific locations or busingsses. It also takes security when appropriale or secks additional collateral from the
counterparty as soon as impairment indicalors arc noticed.

Management montlors on regular basis the markel value of collateral and requests additional eollateral in aceordance with the underlying agrecment, sf
rcquiced. In addition it also specifically monitors the market value of collaleral during ils revicw of the adequacy of the allowances for impairment losscs.
Management regularly reviews its risk management policics and systems to reflect changes in markets preducts and emerging best pracliec.

The debt sccurities ineluded in the investment portfolio are mainly sovereign risk. Analysis of investmenis by elass of counter party is provided in note 6. For
details of the composition of loans and advances refer to note 7. Information on credn risk relating to derivative instuments and commitments and
contingeneies are provided in note 11 and 19 respectively . Information on the Group's maximum ¢redit cxposure by operating segment is provided in note 28.

Maximum cxposurc 1o credit risk to the Group at 31 December 2010 and 2009, without taking into account of any collatcral held or credit enhancements
attached is reflecied below:

2010 2009
Due from banks and other financial institutions 308,881 138,935
[nvesiments, net 11,751,665 12,131,554
Loans and advanees, net 15,038,979 36,022,970
Derivatives 297,821 182,071
Credit related commitments and contingencics 17,465,075 16,040,911
Total 64,862,421 64,516,441

The Group uses a credit classification sysiem as a tool 10 assisl in managing the quality of eredit risk within the lending portfolio. [n addition to the three
eategorics mentioned in note 7 management maintains further classi fication grades thar differentiates between performing and impaired portfolios and allocates
portiolio allowances and specific allowances respectively. Management determines each individual borrower’s grade based on specific objectives and crieria
such as aclivity, cash flows, capital structure, seourity, quality of management and borrower’s characler. A funther quality classification is performed over
existing borrowers and the results of this excreisc are validated by tbe independent risk management uait,

GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION

The Group's credit exposure by geographieal region is as follows:

Other
Sandi GOC and Other

2010 Arabia  Middle East Europe Amrerica countries Toral
Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 4,999,698 - - - - 4,999,698
Due from banks and other financial institutions 153,175 25158 78,992 4,966 46,590 308,881
[nvesiments, net 9,794,242 1,330,981 170,662 - 455,780 11,751,665
Loans and advances, nct 35,038,590 - 389 - - 35,038,979
Total 49,985,705 1,356,139 250,043 4,966 502,370 52,099,223
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Sandi Other Uther

Arabia GCC and Europe America COHRIries Total
Liabilities
Due to banks and other financial inslitutions 2,060,356 648,613 81,794 40,853 25,396 2,857,012
Customers’ deposits 41,442,789 90,062 22,518 3,01 45229 41,603,619
Subordinated debt 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
Total 45,003,145 738,675 104,312 43,874 70,625 45,960,631
Credit-related commitments and Contingencies 15,267,818 270,262 1,015,095 74,992 836,908 17,465,075
Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent
amounts) of the above
Commitments and contingencics 7,833,256 197,807 722,450 37,522 621,906 9,412,941
Derivatives 520,068 114,071 422,568 33,052 3,043 1,092,802

Other
Saudi GCC and Oiher

2000 Arabia Middle East Lurope America countries Total
Assels
Cash and balances with SAMA 9,269,563 - - - 9,269,563
Due from banks and other financial institutions 2977 40,075 53.002 11,458 31,423 138,935
Investments, net 10,379.389 1,339,884 269,317 - 142,964 12,131,554
Loans and advanegs, net 35,627,570 395,295 70 32 3 36,022,970
Total 55,279,499 1,775,254 322,389 11,490 174,390 57,563.022
Liabilitics
Due 1o banks and other financial institutions 3,929,121 1,580,985 79,275 143,610 23,565 5,756,556
Cuslomers™ deposits 44,715,871 64,564 13,322 3,048 30,484 44,827,289
Subordinated debl 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
Total 50,144,992 1,645,549 92,597 146,658 54,040 52,083,845
Credst-retated commutments and Contingencies 14,186,049 295,186 475,078 61,488 1,023,110 16,040,911
Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent
amounts) of the above
Commitments and contingencies 7,181,414 205,903 277,145 36,512 852,423 8,553,397
Derivatives 459367 79,094 266,181 52,145 - 856,787

Credit equivalent amounts reflect the ainounts that result from 1ranslating the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments into the risk equivalent of loans,
using credit conversion factors prescribed by SAMA. The Credit conversion factor is meant 10 capture the potential credit risk related to the exercise of that
commitment. Impaired loans and advances and allowances for credit losses are all within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctualc due Lo cbanges in market variables such as commission
rales. foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Managcment elassifies exposures 10 markel risk into either trading, non-trading or Grouping book.

The market risk for the wading book is managed and monilored using a Value at Risk (VaR) methodology. Markci risk for the non-trading book is managed
and monitored using a combination of VaR, siress 1esiing and sensitivity analysis.
a) MARKET RISK - TRADING BOOK

The Board has set limils for the acceptable level of risks in managing the trading book. In order to manage market risk in the trading book, Management
applies a VaR methodology daily 10 assess the market visk positscus held and also to estumate the potential economic loss bascd on a sct of assumptions and
changes m markct conditions.
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A VaR methodology estimates the potential negative change in market value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and over a speeificd time horizon. The
Group uses simulation models 1o assess the possible changes in the market value of the trading book based on bistorieal data. VaR models are usually designed
to measure the market risk in a normal market environment and therefore the use of VaR has limitations because it is based on historical correfations and
volatilitics in markel prices and assumes that the furure movements will follow a statislical distribution.

The VaR that Management measures is an estimate, using a confidence level of 99% of the polential loss that is not ¢xpected to be exceeded if the current
marke1 positions were 10 be held unchanged for one day. The use of 99% confidence level depicis that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding VaR figure
should oceur, on average, not more than once every hundred days.

The VaR represents the risk of portfolios at the ¢lose of a business day, and 1t does not account for any losses thal may eceur beyend (he defined confidence
interval. The actual trading results however, inay differ from the VaR calculations and, in particular. (he ealeutation does not provide a meaningful indication
of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.

To overcome the VaR limitations mentioned above, Management maintains a framework of non-modcled limits that show potential loss for a given change in 2
market factor and makes no assumption about the behaviour of market factors. Furthermore, Management employs siop loss limits on market risk positions
and carries out stress 1ests of its portfolio to simulate eondilions outside normal confidence intervals. The potential losses oceurring under stress test conditions
are reporied regularly 10 the Group’s and Assel Liability Commitee (ALCO) for their review.

The Group’s VaR related information for the year ended December 31, 2010 1s as given below. Total VaR 1akes into account corrclations across assel elasses
and aceordingly it is not the total of individual VaR.

Foreign exchange Special Commission Foreigri Exchange Overall
rate risk rate risk Forwards Risk
2010 (VaR)
VaR as at December 31 242 97 146 485
Average VaR for 2010 381 695 40 1,116
Maximum VaR 1,072 1,881 1,845 3,914
Minimum VaR 38 78 56 361
Foreign exchange Special Commission Foreign Exchange Qverall
rate risk rate risk Forwards Risk
2009 (VaR)
VaR as at December 31 948 1,255 440 2,643
Average VaR for 2009 646 1,135 899 2,680
Maximum VaR 2,931 2,619 2,214 5,244
Miniinum VaR 27 Jie 157 1,134

b) MARKET RISK - NON-TRADING OR BANKING BOOK

Markct risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from commission rate, forcign currency cxposures and equity price changes.
i) COMMISSION RATE RISK

Commission rate risk arises from the possibility that the ¢hanges in commission rates will affect either the fair values or the furure cash flows of the financial
instruments. The Board has established commission rate gap limits for stipulated periods. Management monitors positions daily and uses hedging strategies 1o
ensurc maintenance of positions within the esiablished gap linits.

The following table depicts the sensitivity 1o a reasonable possible change in commission rates, with other variables held constant, on the Group’s consolidated
income statement or equity. The sensitivity of the ineome 15 1he effeet of the assumed ehanges in commission rales on the net commission income for one year,
based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial Jiabilities held as a1 December 31, 2010 including (he effect of hedging insuumenis. The
scnsitivity of equity is caleulated by revaluing (he fixed rate available for sale finaneial assets, including the effcet of any assoeciated hedges as at December 31,
2010 for 1he ¢ffcet of assumed changes in commission ratcs, The sensitivily of equity 15 analyzed by maturity of the asset or swap
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Banking bock exposures are monitered and analyzed in currency concentrations and relevant sensitivities are diselosed below:

2040
Increase/ (decrease) in Sensitivity of special Sensitivity of equity
Currency basis points commission income 6 months or less | 6 1¢12 months 1-5Y¥rs Over 5Years
USD 15 (22) (58) (116 {237 -
(25) 22 58 116 237 -
EUR 25 (14) - - -
(25) 14 - -
SAR 25 636 365 71 833 2,514
(25) {636) (365) an (833) (2,514)
Others 25 6 i i )
(25) (6) - - - .
2009
[nereasef (deerease) in Sensitivity ¢f special Sensitivity of equity
Currency basis points COMIMISSIon INCOme 6 months or less | 6 012 months 1-5YTs Over 5Years
UsSD 25 {204) 99) (44) (244)
(25} 204 99 44 244 -
EUR 25 (19) - (66) (73) -
(25} 19 - 66 73 -
SAR 25 815 376 922 334 2,705
{25) {815) {376) (922) (334) (2,705)
Others 23 (1) ) i i
(25) 14 - - -

The exposure {o the effect of various nsks associated with fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market commission rates on finaneial position and cash flows

is managed.

The Board sets hmits on the level of comimission rate re-pricing mismatch that may be undenaken, which is monitored daily by the Group's Treasury. The
Group is exposed 10 commission rate tisk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities and off the eonsolidated stalement of
firancial position mstruments that marure or re-price in a given period. This risk is managed by matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities (hrough risk
management siralegies. The table below summiarises the Group's exposure to commission rate risks. Included in the table are the Group’s assets and Liabilines
al earrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of the contractual re-prieing or the maturity dates.

2010
Assels

Cash and balances with SAMA

Due from banks and other finaneial

institutions
[nvesiments, net
Loans and advances, net
[nvestment in associale

Propeny and equipment, net

Other assets

Total

Non

Witlin 3 Jto 12 ltes Over 5 conunission
Months Months years Years hearing Toral
2,449,965 - - - 2,549,733 4,999,698
201,727 751 - - 106,403 308,881
9,948,762 1,559,815 234,569 8,519 - 11,751,665
22,224,834 8,553,576 4,232,997 27,572 - 35,038,979
R - - 20,000 20,000
- - - - 495,216 495,216
- - - - 1,267,974 1,267,974
34,825,288 10,114,142 4,467,566 36,091 4,439,326 53,882,413
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Amounls in SAR’000

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Due 10 banks and other inancial
institutions

Customers’ deposits

Other liabilitics

Subordinated debi

Shareholders” equity

Total liabilitics and share holders’
equity.

Commigsion ratg sensilvity - on the

consolidated financial position gap

Commission rate sensitivity - off the
consalidated linancial position gap

Total commissien rate sensilivity gap

Cumulative commission rate
sensitivity gap

2009
Assets

Cash and balanees with SAMA
Due from banks and other  Financial

inslitutions
Invesiments, nel
Loans and advances, net
Property and equipment, nct
Invesiment in associale
Other assets

Total

Liabilities and sharebolders’ equity

Due 10 banks and other [inancial
institutions

Customers’ deposits

Other liabilities

Suberdinated debt

Sharcholders’ equity

Total liabilities and share holders”
equity.

Commission rate sensitivily - on the
consolidated linancial position gap

Commigsion rate sensitivity - off the
consolidated linaucial position gap

Total commission rate sensitivity gap

Curnulative commission rate
sensilivity gap

c»

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Non

Within 3 31012 11§ Over 5 commission
Months Months rears Years hearing Toral
2,230,617 115,388 - - 511,007 2,857,012
19,946,144 5,281,894 71,612 - 16,303,969 41,603,619
- - - - 1,534,826 1,534,826
- 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
- - - - 6,386,956 6,386,956
22,176,761 6,897,282 71,612 - 24,736,758 53,882,413
12,648,527 3,216,860 4,395,954 36,091 (20,297,432) -
1,668,669 (512,759 (1,012,664} (30,747) (112,499) -
14,317,196 2,704,101 3,383,290 5344  (20,409,931) -
14,317,196 17,021,297 20,404,587 20409931 - -

Nen

Within 3 dtol2 Il Over 3 conmission
Months Months 2ars Years bearing Total
6,926,904 - - - 2,342,659 9,269,563
24,629 2,131 - - 112,175 138,935
8,980,997 2,448,839 660,265 41,453 - 12,131,554
21,186,133 8,722,694 6,024,823 89,320 - 36,022,970
- - 496,608 496,608
- - 20,000 20,000
- - 1,030,088 1,030,088
37,118,663 11,173,664 6,685,088 130,773 4,001,530 59,109,718
4,667811 369,226 - 719,519 5,756,556
23,075,482 7,429,002 115,203 - 14,207,602 44,827,289
- - - - 1,393,051 1,393,051
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
- - - - 5,632,822 5,632,822
27,743,293 0,298,228 115,203 - 21,952,994 59,109718

9,375,370 1,875,436 6,569,885 130,773 {17,951,464)
858.290 (1,029,567) (235,245) 298,966 107,556 -
10,233 660 K45 860 6,334,640 429,739 {17.843,90%) -
14,233,660 11,079,529 17,414,169 17,843 908 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR'000

The off the consolidated financial posilion gap represents the net notional amounts of off financial position financial instruments thas are used to manage the
cOMMIssion rate risk.

The effeclive commission rate (effcctive yield} of a menetary financial instrument is the yeild that the Group eamns from irs elicnrs taking into consideration the
contractual commission rate.

iiy CURRENCY RISK

Currency risk represents the risk of change in 1he value of finangial instrtumems due 1o changes in foreign exchange rates. The Board has set limits on positions
by currencies, which are monitored daily. Hedging strategies are also used Lo ensure that positions are maimained within these limyts,

The table below shows the currencies to which the Group has a significant exposure as at reporting date on its non-trading monetary assets and liabilities and
[orecasted eash flows. The analysis ealeulates the effect on the income siatement (due to the fair value of the eurreney sensitive non-trading monetary assets
and liebilities) of a potential movement in the [oreign eurreney against SAR, with all other variables held ecnstant,. A positive effeel shows a potential increase
n consolidated income s1atement or equity, whereas a negalive effeel shows a potenual net reduction in consolidaled income statemenl.

201¢
Change in Effect on
Currency exposure Currency Rate (%) Net Income
5 (26,207)
USD
S 5) 26,207
5 13
EUR
(5) (13)
5 24
GBP
(5) (24)
IPY 5 (23)
(5) 23
5 358
Oth
e ) (358)
2009
Change in Effect on
Cutrency exposure Currency Rate {%) Net Income
2
UsD 5 11,026
5) (11,026)
5 {10}
EUR
{5) 10
GBP 3 )
{5) 7
Py 5 834
{5 (834)
Others 5 7,472
{5) {(7,472)

Exposure to the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign eurrency exchange rates on its financial position and eash flows is managed by the Board of
Directors selling limits on the level of exposure by cwrrency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amouants io SAR™000

At the end of the year, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominaled in foreign currencies:

Long / (short)
2010 2009
US Dollar (524,146) 220,526
Euro 258 (204)
Pound Sterling 475 (134)
Japanese Yen (452) {6,688
Others 7,156 146,477

iiiy EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equiry risk refers to the nsk of decrease in fair values of equities in the Group’s non-trading invesimenl portfolio as a result of reasonable possible changes in
levels of equity indices and the value of individual siocks,

The Group does not have significant exposure to Equities.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidiry risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty 1n meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or other financial asscts. Liquichry risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause ¢ertain sources of funding 1o dry up at
short notiee. To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sowrees and assets are managed eonsidering liquidity positions to maintain a healthy
balance of cash and cash equivalents and readily marketable securties.

i) Maturity analysis of assels and liabilities

The tables below summarise the maturily profile of the Group’s assets and habilitics. The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined
on the basis of the remaining period at the reporting date 1o the contractual malurity date and do not lake into account the effective maturities as indicated by
the Group’s deposit rctention history. The amounis disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group manages the inherent
liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows. Management monitors the maturity profile to cnsure that adequate liquidity is maintained. The
daily liquidity positicn is monitered and regular liquidity stress 1esting is conducted under a variery of scenarios eovering both normal and more severe market
eonditions. All liquidity policies and procedures arc subjcet to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the liquidity position of both the Bank and
other operating subsidiaries. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, is subminted reguiarly 10 ALCO.

[n accordance with the Banking Control Lew and the regulations issued by SAMA, the Bank maintains a statutory deposit with SAMA equal 10 7% (2009: 7%)
of total demand deposils and 4% (2009: 4 %) of savings and ime deposits. In additicn to the statutory deposit, the Bank also maintains liquid reserves of no
less than 20% of its deposits liabilitics, in the form of cash, Saudi Government Development Bonds or assets which ean be converted into cash within a period
not exceeding 30 days or the Bank may rais¢ additional funds through repo facilities available with SAMA against Saudi Government Development Bonds up
to 75% of the nominal value of bonds held.

(ii) The maturity prolile of assets and liabilities ag at reporting date is as [ollows;

No fixed Within 3 3t 12 lws Over §

2010 maturity Manths Months Years Years Total
Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 2,228,225 2,771,473 - - - 4,999,698
Due from banks and other financial institutions 106,403 201,727 751 - - 308,881
[nvesmments, net 1,310 4,065,516 2,472,265 4,666,544 546,030 11,751,665
Loans and advanecs, net 2,877,092 17,441,533 8,455,666 5,803,171 461,517 35,038,979
Investment in associale 20,000 - - - - 20,000
Propenty and equipment, net 495,216 - - - - 495,216
Other assets 1,267,974 - - - - 1,267,974
Total 6,996,220 24,480,249 10,928,682 13,469,715 1,007,547 53,882,413
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For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Amounts in SAR*000

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Due to banks and other financial institutions

Customers” deposits
Other liabilities
Subordinated debt
Shareholders’ equity

Tolal

2009

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA
Due¢ from bauks and other financial
mstitutions

[nvestments, net

Loans and advances, nel
Investment in associate

Property and equipment, nel

Other assets

Total

Liabilities and sharebolders’ equity

Due to banks and other financial
institutions

Customers’ deposits

Qther liabilities

Suberdinated debt

Shareholders’ equiry

Toltal

c»

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No fixed Within 3 31012 lews Over 5
marurity Months Months Years Years Total
511,007 2,230,617 115388 - - 2,857,012
19,155,185 17,094,928 5,281,894 71,612 - 41,603,619
1,534,826 - - - - 1,534,826
- - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000
6,386,956 - - - - 6,386,956
27,587,974 19,325,545 5,397,282 71,612 1,500,000 53,882,413

No fixed Within 3 3to 12 il Over 5
raaturily Maonths Manths Years Years Toial
2,096,011 7,173,552 - 9,269,563
112,175 24,629 2,131 - - 138,935
1,310 1,958,862 2,973,575 6,651,795 546,012 12,131,554
3,308,284 12,305,865 7,678,800 0,122,397 3,107,624 36,022,970
20,000 20,000
496,608 - 496,608
1,030,088 1,030,088
7,564,476 21,462,908 10.654,506 15,774,192 3,653,636 59,109,718

No fived Within 3 Jto12 tios Over 5
maturify Months Months Years Years Total
719,519 4,667,811 369,226 - - 5,756,556
16,419,425 20,863,660 7.429,002 115,202 - 44,827,289
1,393,051 - - - - 1,393,051
- - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000
5,632,822 - - - 5,632,822
24,164,817 25,531,471 7,798,228 115,202 1,500,000 59,109,718

The cumulative maturity of commitments and contingeneies is given in note 19 (c) (i} of the consolidated financial staicmenus.

ii) Analysis of financial linbilities by rermaining contractual maturities

The table below summarizes the marurity profile of the Group's financial liabilites at reporting datc based on conmactual undiscounted rcpayment obligations.
As special cominission payments up 1o conttactual maturity are included in (he table, totals do not mateh with the consclidated stateinent of financial position.
The contractual maturities of liabilities have been determined based on the remaining period at the veporting date te the eontraetual maturity date and do not
takc into aceount the effective expected maturities. The Gronp expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be

required (0 pay and therefore the table docs not rellect the expecied cash [ows indicated by the Group's deposit retention history.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCJAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR'000

N fixed Witfrin 3 31012 Twh Gver §

aln maturify months Honths years yeqars Total
Financial Liabilities
Duc to banks and other financial institutions 511,007 2,234,130 115,787 - - 2,860,924
Customers” deposils 19,155,185 17,140,186 5,330,674 77,222 - 41,703,267
Subordinated debts - 234 30,393 406,162 1,822,900 2,259,689
Derivatives
Contractual amounts payable - (5,709) (25,146) (288,311) (5,941) (325,107)
Contractual amounts rcegivable - 2,433 11,808 296,122 10,415 320,778
Tetal undiscounted financial liabilities 19,666,192 19,371,274 5,463,516 491,195 1,827,374 46,819,551
2009
Financial Liabilitics
Duc to banks and other financial inslitutions 719,519 4,672,473 373,860 - - 5,765,852
Cuslomers” deposits 16,419,425 20,921,826 7,529,435 127,952 - 44,998 638
Subordinaled debts - 8,650 30,640 LirL2e2 1,258,453 2,408,955
Derivatives
Coniracral amounts payable - 1,722 15,555 103,955 121,232
Contractual amounts receivable - (3,004) (33,008) (306,876) - (342,888)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 17,138 944 25,601,667 7,916,482 1,036,243 1,258,453 52,951,789

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarehy

Managenient uses the foltowing hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:
Level |: quoted prices in aclive markets for the same instrument (i.e. without modification or repacking);

Level 2; quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilitics or other valuation techniques for which all

significant inpuls are based on observable market data; and

Level 37 valuation techniques for which no significant input is based on observable market data. (Therc are no such financial instruments at the

reporting date).

2010

Financial assets Level 1 Leovel 2 Total
Derivalive financial instruments - 297,821 297,821
Financtal assets designated as FVIS 55,844 59,734 115,578
Finangial invesiments available for sale 457,865 560,943 1,018,808
Tolal 513,709 918,498 1,432,207
Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - 295,132 295,132
Total - 295,132 295,132
2009

Einaneial agsets Level | Levet 2 Total
Derivative financial instrumenis - 182,071 182,071
Financial asscls designated al FVIS 38,586 73,307 111,893
Financial invesiments available for sale 239025 1,120,617 1,359,642
Toral 277411 1,175,995 | 653 66
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NOTES TO THE CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR’000

Financial liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Total
Derivative financial instruments - 172,331 172,331
Total - 172,331 172,331

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction,

The fair values of on the consolidated statemecnt of {inancial position finaneial instruments, except for those held to maturity, other investments held at
amortised costs and eustomers’ deposits Lhat are carried at amonised cost, are not sigmficantly differcnt from the earrying values ineluded in the consolidated
financial statements. The estimated fair values of olher investments held at amortised cost and held-to-maturity invesiments are based on quoted market prices,
when available, or pricing models in the case of ecrtain fixed rate bonds. The fair values of these investments are disclosed in note 6. The fair value of loans
and advances held at amonised cost and commission-bearing customers’ deposits are not significantly different from their book values since the current market
commission rates for similar financial asscts are not significantly different from the contracted rates. The fair values of duc from banks and other financial
institutions and due 10 financial instiitions are not significantly different from the carrying values since the underlying amounts for these categories are for
shorter durations which indicates thar their booking rates are not significantly different from the current markel rates. The fair value of subordinated debt
approximates carrying value sinee this is a floating rate liability with commission rates re-priced cvery six months,

The fair values of derivatives and other off the consolidated statement of financial positien financial instruments arc based on the quoted markel prices
wherever availabie or by using the appropriaie valuation models. The total amount of the changes in fair value recognised in 1he consolidated income statement,
which was cstimated using valuation technique, is SAR 2 million {2069: SAR 4 million).

The value obtained from the relevant valuation model may differ, with the (ransaction priee of a financial instument. The difference berween the transaction
price and the model value is commonly referred 10 as “day one profit and loss™. [t is either amorlised over the lifc of the transaction, deferred until the
instrument’s fair value ean be determined using market observable data, or realised through disposal. Subsequent changes in fair valuc are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement without reversal of deferred day one profits and losses.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Bank transacts business with yelated panics, The related pany transactions are performed on an arm’s length basis.
Banking 1ransactions with related parties are governed by limits set by the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by SAMA.

The balances at reporting date, resulting from such transaetions are as follows:

ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 2010 2009
Duc from banks and other financial institutions 55,486 46,460
Due to banks and other finaneial instirutions 59,586 22,136
Commitments and contingencics 268,848 182,559
Directors and other major shareholders:

Loans and advances 511,549 373,944
Customers” deposits 4,735,626 4,875,574
Commitments and contingencies 1,219 4,793

The Group’s mutual funds:
[nvesiments 26,863 33,133

Customers’ deposils 648,687 532,190

Other major shareholders represent sharcholdings {excluding the non-Saudi sharcholder) of more than 5% of the Bank's jssued share capital. Income and
expenses perlaining 10 transaetions with related panies included in the consolidated financial statements arc as follows:

2016 2008
Special corminission income 20,806 8,285
Special commission expense 105,298 [12,710
Fees from banking services, net 5,459 1,162
General and administrative cxpenses 506 1,444
Dicectors’ remuncration, 2,771 2,706
Compensation patd to key management personnel (all short-ternm employee
bencfits) 31,917 54,141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR000

Key management personnel are those persons having responsibility and authority for for fomulating stratcgies and directing and controlling the activities of the
Group.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by SAMA, to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concerns and to maintaio a strong capilal base.

Management monitors the adequacy of its capital using the ratios established by SAMA. These ratios expressed as percentage, measure cepital adcquacy by
comparing the Group's eligible capilal with its consolidated statement of financial position assets, commitments and contingencies and notional amount of
derivatives a1 amoums weighted to refleet their relative risk in line with the standardised approach preseribed under the Basel iT aceord as modified by SAMA .
in aceordance with the regulations promulgated by SAMA, banks in the Kingdom are expected 10 meet a minimum requivement of 8% capital adequacy ratio.

The components of risk weighted assets (RWA), caputal and ratios are as follows:

2010 2009
Credit Risk RWA 45,397,771 45,474,212
Operational Risk RW A 3,614,300 3,456,975
Markel Risk RWA 1,163,798 1,155,682
Total RWA 50,175,869 50,086,869
Tier 1 Capual 6,352,775 5,611,255
Tier IT Capital 1,849,530 1,807,649
Total Tier I & II Capital 8,202,305 7,418,904
Capital Adequacy Ratio %
Tier [ 12.66 11.2
Tier [ + Tier Il 16.35 14.81

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES

The Group offers investment management services 1o ils euslomers that include the management of certain investment funds in consultation with professional
investment advisors, with total assets of SAR 2.61 billion (2009: SAR 2.16 billion). The finaneial stalements of these funds are not consolidated with the
consolidated finaneial statemenls of the Group. The Group’s investmeni in these funds is ineluded in available for sale investments, Fees carned from
management services are disclosed under “related party wansaetions”. Assels held in rust or in a fidueiary capacity are not treated as asscts of the Group and,
aecordingly, are not in¢luded in the consolidaied financial stalements.

STAFF SHARE BASED PLAN RESERVE

In January 2008 the Group launched an equity settled share-based payment plan for executives and senior cmployees (eligible employees). In aceordance with
the provision of the plan, as approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors in their meeting held on [0 Dhu-al-Qa’dah {428 (corresponding November 20, 2007)
and SAMA in their lener dated 26 Safar 1429 (comresponding March 4, 2008), such eligible employees will receive shares of the Bank if the following terms
and conditions are met:

- Eligible employees are required 1o continue their cmployment with the Group for a periad of three years from the grant date; and

- The Group achieve specific growth thresholds as approved by the Board of Directors where caeh threshold will acerue a eertain value of shares
to the eligible employees.

The Plan delails arc as follows:

Plan Commeneement date January 2008

Value of sharcs granicd on the grant date, 32,342,500

Average price at grant date 5315

Yesting period 3 years from the grant date
Method of settlement Equily sellled

Under the provisions of the plan, the Group at no paint becomes the legal owner of the underlying sharves. Uniil such time as these shares vest they will not
caiy vouing rights. As per the plan, SHC manages the Staff Share Plan Fund (the Fund) which will operate in aeeordance with the terras and eonditions as
approved by the Bank's Board of Directors in their above refeired meeting and by SAMA in their above referred letter. Any further modificauons in the terms
and conditions of the plan require prior approval of SAMA. Duc to resirichons regarding ils operations as agreed by SAMA the resulls and assets and
liabiliies of the Fund are not consolidated in these consolidated financial slaiements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
Amounts in SAR'000

The number of shares granted is caleulaled in accordance with the performance based formula approved by the Board of Directors and is subject (o approval of
the remuneration committees; however, in accordanee with the plan the total value of the plan will not exceed SR 114 millicn in 9 years starting from January
2008. During the year 2009, bonus shares of onc for every 4 shares held were ransferved 10 the Fund which resulted in a reduetion in the average eost per share
from SAR 53.1510 SAR 42.52.

The following is the movement in number of shares in grant at December 31, 2010:
Number of shares

2010 2009
Beginning of the year 601,354 608,513
Bonus shares allocaled - 120,271
Forfeited during the year (49,876) (127,430)
Shares expected to vest at the reporting date 551,478 601,354

No additional shares were granied suhscquent 1o the initial grant in year 2008.

The Fund has purchased 2.15 million Bank’s shares for a total eonsideration of SR 114 million during 2008 which are held by the Fund in fiduciary capacity
until the shares vest 1o the eligible employees. At the vesting date the ownership of (hese shares will pass to the employees. The acquisition of shares was
financed by the Bank and the amount is included in Other Assets.

PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Group has ehosen not 1o early adopt the amendments and revisions to the following siandards which bave been published and is mandatory for
compliance for the Group’s accounting years beginning afler | January 2010.

The revised [AS 24 "Rclated Party Disclosures™ amends the definition of a related panty and modifies eertain relaled party disclosure requircments for
government-related entities. 1AS 24 (2009 - Revised) applics retrospectively for annual periods beginming on or after 1 January 2011 and early adoption is
permitted.

Amendments to 1IFRIC 14 [AS 19 — “The Limit on a Defined Benefit Assels, Minimum Funding Requirements and their [nteraetion”. These amendments
remove unintended eonsequences arising from the weatment of prepayments where there is a minimum funding requirement. These amendments result in
prepayments of contributions in certain eireumstances being recognised as an asset rather than an ¢xpense.

1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation — Classification of Rights [ssucs - The LASB amended 1AS 32 10 allow rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed
number of the entity’s own cquity instruments for a fixed amount of any curreney 10 be classified as equity instruments provided the entity offers the rights,
oplions or warrants pro rata to all of its existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative cquity instruments. Effective date 1 February 2010.

[FRIC 19 "Extinguishing Financial Liabilitics with Equity [nstrumems" - This interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for debt for equiry swaps.
Effective date is ) July 2010.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The Bank made an investments amounting 1o SAR 500,000 during the year in Saudi Hollandi Insurance (SH1), which at the reporting date was in course of
formation. Subscquent to the reporting date, SHI[ was established under commercial registration number 1010300250 dated 29 Muhawam (43ZH
{cotresponding to 4 January 2011) with thc approval of the SAMA.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain prior year figures have been reclassificd 1o conform to the current year’s presentation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directlors on 1) Safar 1432 H (corresponding to January 15, 2011).

BASEL II PILLAR 3 DJISCLOSURE

Under Bascl I pillar 3, ccrtatn quantitative and qualitative disclosures are required. These disclosures will be made available on the Group website
www.shb.coinsa and ineluded in the annual report, respectively as required by SAMA. Such disclosures are not subjeel to veview or audil by the external
audilors.
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